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ANGLOVAAL MINING LIMITED
MARKED ITS 70TH YEAR OF
OPERATIONS ON 1 JUNE 2003
The Company was incorporated in 1933 as Anglo-Transvaal
Consolidated Investment Company Limited as a mining, finance
and industrial holding company. In 1996, Anglovaal was split into
two entities: a mining unit and an industrial holding company. In
1998, the industrial assets were unbundled, which allowed
Anglovaal to focus on its core mining operations. Anglovaal then
changed its name to Anglovaal Mining Limited, or Avmin.

STRATEGIC FOCUS
Avmin aims to:

• Improve efficiencies and reduce costs at existing operations
and rationalise or dispose of under-per forming assets;

• Develop new sources of earnings by focusing on new mining
related business development and exploration; and

• Develop the organisation’s ability to adapt effectively to a
changing environment.

F O R W A R D  LO O K I N G  S TAT E M E N T

Cer tain statements included in this repor t constitute “forward looking statements”.

Such statements involve known and unknown risks, uncer tainties and other factors

that may cause the actual results, per formances, objectives or achievements of

Avmin and its subsidiary or associated companies as well as the mining industry to

be materially different from the results, per formances, objectives or achievements

expressed or implied by these forward looking statements. Avmin is subject to the

effect of changes in the minerals and metals commodity prices, currency

fluctuations and the risks involved in mining operations.

Avmin under takes no obligation to publicly update or revise any of these forward-

looking statements, whether to reflect new information or future events or

circumstances or otherwise.
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G R O U P  S T R U C T U R E

PRECIOUS METALS

Avgold – 42,3% (gold)

30 June 2003
• Revenue: R1 billion
• Cost of sales: R863 million
• Profit before tax: R37 million
• Contribution to Avmin’s headline  

earnings: R26 million

Two Rivers Platinum – 55% (PGMs)

FERROUS METALS

Assmang – 50,3% (iron ore,

manganese ore and alloys,

chrome ore and alloys)

30 June 2003

•   Revenue: R2,9 billion

•   Cost of sales: R2,2 billion

•   Profit before tax: R383 million

•   Contribution to Avmin’s headline

 earnings: R152 million

BASE METALS

Nkomati – 75% (nickel, copper, cobalt,

PGMs)

30 June 2003

•   Revenue: R503 million

•   Cost of sales: R264 million

•   Profit before tax: R203 million

•   Contribution to Avmin’s headline

     earnings: R108 million

ANGLOVAAL MINING LIMITED at 30 June 2003

Developers and operators of managed investments in southern Africa in the ferrous,

precious and base metal sectors

Share information
•   Shares in issue: 112 601 980
•   Market capitalisation: R4,5 billion
•   Listed on the JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa (Share code: AIN)

•   Listed on the London Stock Exchange (Share code: AGM)

Financial summary
•   Revenue: R4,9 billion
•   Cost of sales: R3,9 billion
•   Profit before tax and exceptional items: R424 million
•   Headline earnings: R197 million
•   Headline earnings per share: 176 cents



Locality | 3

LO C A L I T Y
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ANGLOVAAL MINING LIMITED CONTINUES TO ENHANCE ITS
POSITION AS AN OPERATOR OF QUALITY ASSETS IN THE
FERROUS, PRECIOUS AND BASE METALS SECTORS IN SOUTHERN
AFRICA WITH A STRONG PROJECT PIPELINE. THE GROUP’S
OBJECTIVE IS TO DELIVER SUPERIOR RETURNS TO ITS
SHAREHOLDERS IN A SUSTAINABLE MANNER WHILST
CONTRIBUTING TO THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, SOCIAL WELL-
BEING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION OF THE AREAS WHERE
THE GROUP OPERATES.
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G R O U P  F I N A N C I A L  S U M M A R Y  A N D  S T A T I S T I C S

Definitions

1. Taxation rate (per cent) Taxation charge per income statement divided by profit before taxation. 

2. Interest cover (times) Profit before exceptional items and finance costs divided by finance costs. 

3. Dividend cover (times) Basic earnings per share divided by dividends per share. 

4. Return on operational assets (per cent) Profit from operations divided by tangible non-current and current
assets excluding capital work-in-progress.

5. Return on capital employed (per cent) Profit before exceptional items and finance costs, divided by
average capital employed. Capital employed comprises non-current and current assets less trade and other
payables and provisions.

6. Return on equity (per cent) Headline earnings divided by ordinary shareholders’ interest in capital 
and reserves.

7. Debt:equity ratio Total debt divided by total equity. Total debt comprises long-term borrowings, overdrafts
and short-term borrowings. Total equity comprises total shareholders' interest.

8. Net debt:equity ratio Total debt less cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity.

9. Net asset value per share (cents) Ordinary shareholders' interest in capital and reserves divided by
number of shares in issue.

10. Market capitalisation (R million) Number of ordinary shares in issue multiplied by market value of shares
at 30 June.

RAND/US DOLLAR EXCHANGE RATE: 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003
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G R O U P  F I N A N C I A L  S U M M A R Y  A N D  S T A T I S T I C S  ( c o n t i n u e d )

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999*
*Restated Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Income statement
Revenue 4 896 4 047 2 806 2 934 2 489
Earnings/(loss) (191) (866) 281 3 980 521
Headline earnings 197 204 281 486 289
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (170) (780) 259 3 723 561
Headline earnings per share (cents) 176 184 259 455 311

Balance sheet
Total assets 7 161 8 786 9 114 9 437 4 960
Total interest bearing borrowings 822 2 696 2 475 1 082 730
Shareholders' equity 4 962 4 591 5 491 4 272 3 123

Cash flow
Cash generated from operations 849 619 526 632 460
Cash generated from operations per share (cents) 758 558 485 591 495
Cash and cash equivalents 265 779 439 4 160 436

Number of employees 3 284 5 303 5 263 14 666 14 861

JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa performance
Ordinary shares (cents)
– high 5 100 4 280 4 200 2 837 3 905
– low 2 900 3 100 2 280 1 779 1 236
– year end 4 000 3 701 3 950 2 500 3 900
Volume of shares traded (thousands) 39 294 51 524 38 285 91 856 46 426
Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 112 602 111 444 110 105 107 610 106 200

Definition
Financial statistics number
Tax rate before exceptional items (per cent) 1 408 (80) 29 8 19
Interest cover (times) 2 3,4 5,3 5,3 10,9 5,6
Dividend cover (times) 3 – – – 0,41 4,5
Return on operational assets (per cent) 4 7,6 10,1 7,7 6,5 13,3
Return on capital employed (per cent) 5 8,2 10,2 8,1 11,8 16,1
Return on equity (per cent) 6 7,8 7,9 7,0 15,8 14,5
Debt:equity ratio 7 0,17 0,59 0,45 0,25 0,23
Net debt:equity ratio 8 0,11 0,42 0,37 (0,72) 0,09
Net asset value per share (cents) 9 2 230 2 314 3 640 2 869 1 879
Market capitalisation (R million) 10 4 504 4 125 4 349 2 690 4 142

Group Financial Summary and Statistics | 5
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Executive directors

RICK MENELL, 48, MA, MSc, Chairman
Appointed to the board in 1994, chief executive officer in 1999, chairman in 2002.

Trained as a geologist, Rick has been a merchant banker in New York and Melbourne. He also
worked as an executive director of Delta Gold in Australia. He joined Avmin in February 1992 as
assistant financial manager, mines. He was later appointed manager, finance and administration
(mines) and then general manager, corporate services. Appointed managing director of Avmin
Limited in 1996 and in 1999 was elected president of the Chamber of Mines of South Africa. He
is also chairman of The South African Tourism Board, a director of The Standard Bank Group
Limited, Telkom Limited and Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited and a trustee of the
National Business Trust.

JAN STEENKAMP, 49, National Mining Diploma, EDP, Chief executive officer
Appointed to the board on 12 May 2003 and appointed chief executive officer on 1 July 2003

after serving as chief operating officer.

Jan started his career with the Anglovaal Group in 1973. Trained as a mining engineer, he has
worked and managed Group mining operations within the gold, copper, manganese and iron ore
sections. He was appointed as managing director of Avgold Limited (Avgold) in September
2002 and also serves on the board of Assmang Limited.

DOUG CAMPBELL, 56, CA(SA), Chief financial officer
Appointed to the board on 12 May 2003 and as chief financial officer on 1 July 2002.

Doug’s early career was with Arthur Andersen. He has held various senior financial positions
with Hunt Leuchars & Hepburn Limited and Murray & Roberts group, including the latter’s
Australian subsidiary as the group financial director. Doug joined Avgold as financial director in
1998 and three years later was appointed Avmin’s chief financial officer.

D I R E C T O R S



Non-executive directors

PINE PIENAAR, 39, BCom, CA(SA)
Appointed to the board in 2003.

From 1995, Pine was responsible for the listing of various South Africa gold mining companies
on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange, USA. During 1996 to 1997 he was the financial director for the
Grootvlei Proprietary Mines, Limited and East Rand Proprietary Mines, Limited. Later, he was
appointed operational director, Free State operations for Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited
(Harmony) and in 2000 was appointed to the role of corporate development, South Africa –
acquisitions.

BERNARD SWANEPOEL, 42, BSc (Min Eng), BCom (Hons)
Appointed to the board in 2003.

Bernard Swanepoel has led the team responsible for Harmony’s transformation from a mining
lease bound, ailing operation to a growth company. He started his career in gold mining at
Grootvlei mine in 1983 and subsequently worked at various Gengold Limited operations,
culminating in his appointment as a director of Beatrix Mines Limited in 1993. He joined Randgold
and Exploration Company Limited in 1995 as managing director of Harmony and has been the
driving force in making Harmony the fifth largest independent gold producer in the world.

PATRICE MOTSEPE, 41, BA, LLB
Appointed to the board in 2003.

From 1988 to 1991 Patrice was a practising attorney with the law firm Bowman Gilfillan
Hayman Godfrey Inc. During 1991/92 Patrice was a visiting attorney with McGuire Woods
Battle and Boothe under an American Bar Association programme. He was based in
Richmond, Virgina and Washington DC. From 1992 to 1995 he was the legal consultant for its
southern African practice. Patrice then became a partner in their commercial department,
specialising in mining and business law. In 1995 Patrice became chairman and founder of
Future Mining and in 1997 executive chairman and founder of African Rainbow Minerals Gold
Limited. From 1990 he has been a member of the Council of NAFCOC, and in 2002 President
of NAFCOC, and from 1994 a member of NEDLAC. In 1998 he became Global Leader of
Tomorrow – World Economic Forum. Since 2002 Patrice has been President of the Black
Business Council, voted Sunday Times South Africa’s Business Leader for 2002, and also
voted South Africa’s best entrepreneur for 2002.

DAVID MURRAY, 58, BA (Hons) (Econ), MBA
Appointed to the board in 2001. He retired as chief executive officer on 1 July 2003 and now

serves as a director and consultant to the Group.

David joined the Group in 2000 as managing director of Avgold. Prior to this, he worked for TVX
Gold Inc. in Canada and RTZ plc as president and chief executive officer of various subsidiary
companies in Brazil and Portugal. He also served with the RTZ group in Spain, Germany,
England, Namibia, and Zimbabwe. He was awarded the OBE in 1993.

D I R E C T O R S  ( c o n t i n u e d )

Directors | 7
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Non-executive directors – independent

DONN JOWELL, 62, BCom, LLB
Appointed to the board in 1999.

Donn established his own law practice in 1968 and is currently the chairman of Jowell, Glyn &
Marais Inc. He is a non-executive director of Investec Bank Limited and chairman of its audit
committee.

KENNEDY MAXWELL, 64, BSc Eng (Mech), MA, PMD
Appointed to the board in 1998 and chairman in 1999. Past chairman of the Company and he

remains on the board as an independent non-executive director.

A former executive director of Johannesburg Consolidated Investment Company Limited, Ken
served as president of the Chamber of Mines of South Africa between 1989 and 1990. He
currently serves on the executive of the National Business Initiative. 

ROY McALPINE, 62, BSc (Glasgow), CA (Scotland)
Appointed to the board in 1998.

Roy joined the Liberty Life Group in 1969 and retired as an executive director in 1998 in order
to diversify his interests. He is a former chairman of the Association of Unit Trusts of South
Africa and currently serves on the boards of a number of listed companies. 

DR MORLEY NKOSI, 68, PhD (Economics), MBA, BS (Economics)
Appointed to the board in 1998.

Apart from being an academic, economist and a businessman, Morley is the chairperson of the
National Institute for Economic Policy and managing associate of Morley Nkosi Associates.  He
serves on several boards including that of Investec Bank Limited.

D I R E C T O R S  ( c o n t i n u e d )



D I R E C T O R S  A N D  M A N A G E M E N T

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee
KENNEDY MAXWELL (Chairman), DONN JOWELL, DR MORLEY NKOSI, PINE PIENAAR

Nominations Committee
RICK MENELL (Chairman), DONN JOWELL, PATRICE MOTSEPE, DR MORLEY NKOSI

Remuneration Committee
KENNEDY MAXWELL (Chairman), ROY MCALPINE, RICK MENELL, BERNARD SWANEPOEL

Risk Committee
DAVID MURRAY (Chairman), DOUG CAMPBELL, RICK MENELL, DR MORLEY NKOSI,
PINE PIENAAR, JAN STEENKAMP

Sustainable Development Committee
DR MORLEY NKOSI (Chairman), KENNEDY MAXWELL, RICK MENELL, PINE PIENAAR,
JAN STEENKAMP

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
RICK MENELL, Chairman
JAN STEENKAMP, Chief executive officer
DOUG CAMPBELL, Chief financial officer
MIKE ARNOLD, Group financial manager
CHRIS BLAKEY-MILNER, General manager risk
BRYAN BROEKMAN, Senior vice president ferrous metals
GRAHAM BUTLER, Vice president Assmang business strategy
PIETER COETZEE, General manager legal
JULIAN GWILLIM, Vice president corporate development
DR JOHN KILANI, Vice president sustainable development
ARNÉ LEWIS, Vice president SA operations
TEBOHO MAHUMA, General manager communications and government relations
GERHARD POTGIETER, Senior vice president business development
EBRAHIM TAKOLIA, General manager investor relations

Directors and Management | 9
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RICK MENELL
Chairman

“THE LAST FIVE YEARS HAVE BEEN

EXTREMELY ACTIVE FOR YOUR COMPANY.

WE HAVE MOVED AGGRESSIVELY TO

RESTRUCTURE THE GROUP, MODERNISE

OUR OPERATIONS, AND HONE OUR

PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS TO

ACHIEVE A GREATER FOCUS WITH LOW-

COST, HIGH MARGIN MINES AND

BENEFICIATION PLANTS, WHILE AT THE

SAME TIME PROVIDING SUPERIOR

RETURNS TO SHAREHOLDERS.”



A  M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N

To our shareholders
This year marks two important anniversaries:  1 June 2003 was the 70th birthday of the Anglovaal Group, and 7 December 2003
marks the fifth anniversary of the current structure of Anglovaal’s successor, Anglovaal Mining Limited (Avmin), following the
unbundling of Anglovaal Industries, the consolidation of our mining interests and the staged removal of our outdated control structure.

Avmin over the last five years
The last five years have been extremely active for your Company.  We have moved aggressively to restructure the Group, modernise
our operations, and hone the portfolio of investments to achieve a greater focus while at the same time providing superior returns
to shareholders. Our operating assets now comprise low cost, high margin modern mines and beneficiation plants.

Strategic actions have included:

• The Avmin Group has bought five mining assets for approximately R1,7 billion in the ferrous, precious and base metals sectors;

• Ten assets have been sold by the Avmin Group for R6,5 billion, divesting from diamonds, coal, industrial minerals, higher-cost
mature gold operations, Iscor and our troubled investment in Chambishi Metals plc (Chambishi);

• A special distribution to shareholders of R2,9 billion was made in 2000 following the sale of our diamond interests; and

• The Avmin Group has completed nine major projects for a total capital cost of R5,9 billion in our chosen focus sectors of
ferrous, precious and base metals.

All these transactions have been profitable and the new projects successful, with the exception of our Zambian cobalt/copper
venture at Chambishi.

Through our strategies of divesting low-margin or troubled businesses, and capitalising new modern mechanised operations with
low costs, Avmin has built a platform for future growth that is as competitive as any other South African mining company.

When measured by share price, cash dividends and capital distributions, Avmin has delivered superior returns to shareholders since
its formation on 7 December 1998:  all-in returns to shareholders over the nearly five years have averaged 40 per cent per annum
measured in rand terms, and 31 per cent  per annum in US dollar terms.  Over the three years, since the distribution of R27 per
share in July 2000, rand returns have averaged 20 per cent per annum and US dollar returns 17 per cent per annum.  These returns
have been achieved in a fast-changing and unpredictable environment, despite highly volatile rand/US dollar exchange rates and
commodity prices, dramatic changes to the South African regulatory environment and a major setback at Chambishi.

Financial year 2003
Much of the work to achieve our long-term objectives took place over the last financial year, and is described in detail in Jan
Steenkamp’s chief executive officer’s report.  A number of major capital projects reached full production during the year, including
Target gold mine, Chambishi’s cobalt smelter and the Machadodorp ferro-chrome smelter.  We achieved the major objective of
eliminating US$170 million of debt, which necessitated the sale of Chambishi and 13 per cent of our shareholding in our subsidiary,
Avgold.  The Group reduced its consolidated net debt-to-equity from 42 to 11 per cent by year-end, and Avmin itself became 
debt-free shortly after the end of the financial year.  

The sale of Chambishi resulted in an exceptional loss of R649 million.  The sales agreement provides for us to earn up to an
additional US$25 million through royalties over the next six years, depending on cobalt prices, production volumes and the
resolution of tax issues with the Zambian government by the new owners.  Avmin has no material remaining liabilities or obligations
relating to Chambishi. This project has been a major disappointment, but we can now move forward unencumbered by the cost
and extra risks that it represented.

The sale of Chambishi by Avmin and the higher-cost ETC gold assets by Avgold significantly reduced the overall risk profile of the
Group.   An additional benefit of Avgold’s sale of ETC for R255 million was that it enabled Avgold to reduce its debt significantly,
eliminating US dollar borrowings, refinance the remaining debt and thereby achieve freedom to manage a restructuring and
continuous reduction of its remaining gold hedge book.

The rand strengthened unexpectedly by 36 per cent during the financial year.  An immediate benefit to the Company was that the
repayment of the US$170 million debt related to Chambishi, during May to August 2003, cost R400 million less than it would have
a year previously.  

However, our earnings from ongoing South African operations suffered from the strong rand.

A Message from the Chairman| 11
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A  M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N

Our South African operations, Assmang, Avgold and Nkomati nickel, all achieved outstanding operating results for the year, with
record production volumes and low unit costs.  Despite the stronger rand, Group headline earnings were similar to the previous
year at R197 million (R204 million).  Group headline earnings increased 18 per cent to R241 million before the effect of unrealised
non-hedge derivative losses.

These results include the significantly reduced losses at Chambishi of R95 million (loss – R221 million), as well as the reduced
earnings from ferrous metals at R152 million (R270 million) due principally to a stronger rand.

A substantial improvement in net cash flow from operating activities of 113 per cent to R630 million (R296 million) reflects the
maturity of our newly-capitalised, competitive low-cost operations.  The cash generated was applied towards debt reduction and
the completion of capital projects throughout the Group.

Dividends
In light of the Company’s loss after tax, the board does not consider it appropriate to declare a dividend for the year ended 30 June
2003.  However, we recognise the importance to shareholders of the payment of regular dividends and plan to recommence
dividend payments as soon as we can do so withouth incurring debt specifically to fund such payments. 

Sustainable development
The Group has evolved in its management of sustainable development.  A separate report accompanies this annual report covering
safety, health, HIV/AIDS, and environmental and community development issues.  We continue to improve our ability to achieve
superior "triple bottom line" returns, in the financial, environmental and community development fields.  

Despite our strenuous effor ts and successes, I regret to report that six members of our team lost their lives in separate
accidents during the year at our Nchwaning manganese mine, Beeshoek iron ore mine and ETC gold mine.  On behalf of the
board and all at Avmin, I extend our condolences to the families.  It is a top priority of the Group to avoid any fatalities, and
there is no reason why we cannot achieve this.  Apart from these tragic losses, safety performance improved significantly
from levels a year ago.

HIV/AIDS
Avmin’s Sustainable Development Report provides details of our extensive strategies for managing the impact of the HIV/AIDS
pandemic.  Group wide testing has been completed for a second time, with results showing HIV prevalence among our permanent
work force of eight per cent, but a much higher level of 19 per cent for the external contractors working for the Group.  I believe our
strategies for dealing with the financial and social impacts of HIV/AIDS are among the most progressive and effective in the South
African private sector.

Legislative changes
During the year, the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act (MPRDA) was enacted, and the Mining Charter between
mining stakeholders was negotiated and signed.  Despite some remaining ambiguities, we wholeheartedly support these
instruments which provide a much higher degree of certainty as well as several major challenges for the industry as a whole.  Your
Company is actively engaged in all the relevant areas to meet the requirements of the MPRDA and the Mining Charter in order to
achieve new order mining and prospecting licences for all our operations. The challenges of Black Economic Empowerment (BEE)
are being addressed at both the mining asset level and at the corporate level, with some progress being made through the sale of
ETC and a memorandum of understanding was signed with a BEE group led by TISO Capital (Proprietary) Limited on our Two Rivers
platinum project.  The new requirements present both opportunities as well as potential costs, and are central to our future growth
strategies.  We continue to explore innovative solutions for achieving and exceeding the challenging, but necessary, requirements
set by the new legislation.

The final pieces of legislation governing the new mining regime are the "Money Bill" outlining the new royalty regime, and the
"Beneficiation Bill" dealing with government policy on encouraging beneficiation of natural resource products.  Both are in their
formative stages.  There have been some concerning indications that these instruments will inhibit new investment and reduce the
industry’s competitiveness, but as with the Mining Charter, an active and constructive dialogue is underway that should enable a
compromise to be reached that will be acceptable to all stakeholders in the South African mining industry.

New growth projects
Avmin has continued to develop attractive new mining and metals investment opportunities while bringing our major projects to full
operation; the Nkomati nickel expansion, Two Rivers platinum project, iron ore rationalisation and expansion, Target North gold
prospect, Avmin Alloys (AvAlloys) superalloy initiative and a new gold discovery at Otjikoto in Namibia provide a range of potential
opportunities in favourable sectors. The Nkomati nickel expansion and Two Rivers platinum project feasibility studies were
completed during the year with encouraging results. Both await financing and go-ahead decisions in the near future.



A  M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N

Future growth strategy
With rapid change underway and likely to continue for some time in the South African mining industry, combined with our quality
operating assets and major in-house growth projects, I believe we have every opportunity to achieve returns for shareholders over
the next five years that are as attractive as those we have delivered since 1998.

Two key objectives must still be achieved in order to give Avmin the best opportunities to grow, deliver value to shareholders and
create new, quality jobs and national wealth:

• We must build a stronger financial base to support new mining investments; despite reducing our group gearing to low levels,
we are too small to support fully the risk investment required for our larger in-house projects such as the Nkomati expansion
and Two Rivers platinum project;

• We must become a fully empowered Company so that we can utilise our resources to became a partner-of-choice for new
mining ventures. We must achieve a dominant shareholding in our Company by historically disadvantaged South Africans, who
can make a leadership contribution to the Group. 

The purchase of 34,5 per cent of the ordinary shares in Avmin by Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited (Harmony), itself 15 per
cent owned by African Rainbow Minerals Investments and Exploration (Proprietary) Limited, offers special opportunities to achieve
both these key objectives.

All strategic options are under thorough and urgent evaluation and our objective is to announce a plan by early 2004 that will
demonstrate an exciting and profitable future for our Company. 

The year ahead
The strategic objectives that I have outlined as well as the extreme volatility of the rand makes if difficult to predict headline earnings
for next year with any confidence. Throughout the Group we plan to increase production volumes over the current year, while
maintaining the current low operating costs but this may not fully offset the impact of the current strong rand on Group earnings.
Management teams at all the operations are implementing a range of strategies to counter the effect of a stronger rand on
cashflows, including a focus on essential capital expenditure items only and further cost reduction initiatives. We are also reviewing
all the key economic assumptions that underpin new project feasibility studies: projecting a stronger rand may lead to the deferral
of go-ahead decisions on certain projects.

Team changes
Following the completion of the sale of shareholdings in the Company, those directors nominated by Anglo American Corporation
of South Africa Limited and Arctic Resources Limited resigned. These were: Barry Davison, his alternate Bill Nairn, Dave Barber,
Philip Baum, Roy Oron, Nir Livnat, Brian Frank and Brian Menell. They all made a very significant contribution to the Group and
served diligently. I thank them all for their input and commitment.

Harmony nominated three directors to the board:  Patrice Motsepe, Bernard Swanepoel and Pine Pienaar. All are welcome and have
already made important contributions.

David Murray retired as chief executive officer on 30 June 2003, but remains a non-executive director. He made a major
contribution, particularly in improving the Group’s management structure, and guided us through some very challenging times. Jan
Steenkamp, previously chief operating officer, has joined the board as chief executive officer, accompanied by Doug Campbell as
chief financial officer.

During the year we completed a radical, but necessary, restructuring of our head office with some 120 of our close colleagues
leaving us, including several who have invested their entire careers with Avmin. The sale of ETC and Chambishi also resulted in a
large number of departures. I am grateful to all involved for their contribution and the highly professional way in which they all
handled these difficult transitions.

Finally, I would like to thank all my colleagues on the board, in the executive and throughout the Group, as well as our many business
partners, for working so hard and so well to steer Avmin onto an exciting course for the future.

RICK MENELL
Chairman

3 October 2003
Johannesburg

A Message from the Chairman | 13
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JAN STEENKAMP
Chief executive officer

“I WOULD LIKE TO EXPRESS MY

APPRECIATION TO ALL AVMIN STAFF FOR

THEIR DEDICATION AND SUPPORT DURING

A TOUGH YEAR. SPECIFICALLY, I WOULD

LIKE TO THANK EMPLOYEES AT THE

OPERATIONS FOR THEIR SPECIAL EFFORT

TO IMPROVE ON PRODUCTION TARGETS

WHILE MAINTAINING OPERATING COSTS

AND THE JOHANNESBURG STAFF FOR

THEIR CO-OPERATION AND

UNDERSTANDING DURING THE

RESTRUCTURING. AVMIN, WITH ITS

HIGHLY SKILLED AND EXPERIENCED

WORKFORCE, IS WELL PLACED TO MEET

THE CHALLENGES OF THE FUTURE.”



Operationally, this has been a good year for Avmin.  Our mines and beneficiation plants have all produced record production, with
Avgold Limited’s (Avgold) new Target gold mine completing its first full year of production.  The credit for consistently achieving
productivity and efficiency gains must be passed on to all Group employees and I express my gratitude to them. 

Group revenue for the year ended 30 June 2003 increased nearly R850 million to R4,9 billion, largely as a result of the inclusion
of Target for its first full year of operation. Operating income decreased by 35 per cent to R521 million. This decrease,
notwithstanding higher production and increased US dollar product prices, was largely as a result of the impact of the 11 per cent
strengthening in the year-on-year average rand/US dollar exchange rate, as well as the R103 million Avgold charge for unrealised
non-hedge derivatives.

The Group’s results were adversely affected by Chambishi Metals plc’s (Chambishi) performance and a weak cobalt price. Avmin
sold its 90 per cent ownership of Chambishi effectively at year-end.

The Group’s headline earnings before unrealised non-hedge derivatives increased to R241 million (2002: R204 million), which
equates to 215 cents a share (184 cents a share).

FERROUS METALS

At Assmang Limited (Assmang) we continue to benefit from the dramatic rise in world steel production that enabled production
growth,  while benefiting from a high through-put to maintain a competitive cost profile.  The rand exchange rate is, and will always
be, a key profitability determinant in this manganese, iron ore and chrome business. This is illustrated by Assmang’s revenue
increasing marginally by 3,4 per cent year-on-year, whereas total sales volume rose by over 11 per cent, indicating that the product
prices per ton and consequently our margins, were significantly affected by the strong rand.  As management we continue to
attempt to counter the rand’s strength with operational improvements. We remain enthusiastic about the markets for Assmang’s
products in the year ahead and we anticipate further strong production growth.  We are also preparing for growth within Assmang:

• The Nchwaning manganese mine’s new shaft will be in production by the end of the current financial year;

• Assmang has entered into a heads of agreement with Kumba Resources Limited with the purpose of exchanging information to
evaluate possibilities that may result in the swapping of iron ore assets. In addition, various expansion scenarios are being
investigated; and

C E O ’ S R E P O R T
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JSE Secur i t ies Exchange SA share pr ice performance
Avmin was l is ted in i ts  current form on 7 December 1998

AVMIN SHARE PRICE  December 1998 to 30 June 2003
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PRECIOUS METALS

Avgold concluded the sale of the ETC division during June 2003 for R255 million and shortly after year-end sold the mine’s houses
to the same buyer for R15 million. The sales proceeds were utilised to redeem part of the syndicated loan raised for the
development of Target mine. Avgold subsequently refinanced the remaining debt facility repaying its US dollar debt exposure.
Avgold’s debt:equity ratio at year end was 5,6 per cent.

After a steep learning curve at Target mine the operation is now reaching design criteria.  Not surprisingly, for a new deep level gold
mine, Target’s first year of operation experienced some ‘teething’ problems in using highly mechanised techniques in massive
mining areas. At these depths, Target is a pioneering venture for the mining industry and we expected to encounter some challenges.
The Target team has now defined and is achieving its critical path schedule to ensure optimal operation at the mine with greater
confidence. Production during the current financial year is showing a major improvement. Target’s team did a superb job in
resolving some of the technical challenges at the early start-up stage of this mine. Our vision of creating a low-cost, long-life gold
mining company is now a reality.  

During the year we accelerated the pre-feasibility study on the very large gold resources immediately north of our Target mine.  The
study has been presented to the Avgold board and some revisions are being considered. This study indicates that a phased
approach may provide rates of return that are more attractive to Avgold’s shareholders than a mega twin shaft mine system.  We
will be in a position to communicate results of the study to all shareholders soon.

Avmin’s 56 per cent shareholding in Avgold was reduced to 42,3 per cent following the sale of 90 million Avgold shares through
an international private placement. The proceeds were used to repay the Group’s debt relating to Chambishi.

The Two Rivers platinum project feasibility study has been completed and is ready to be presented to the partners for a
development decision.  Avmin intends to enter the platinum industry in a significant way through the Two Rivers project and the
Nkomati expansion project (see below under Base Metals).

Two Rivers has attractive ore reserve grades and we have demonstrated the feasibility of mechanised mining and concentrate
production for toll treatment.  However, the current strong rand and uncertainty regarding the very high and poorly-structured
proposed royalty on platinum production raise serious questions about the attractiveness of the project.  Before these two factors
entered the equation, the Two Rivers partners Avmin and Impala Platinum Holdings Limited had signed a memorandum of
understanding with potential new Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) partners to acquire up to 25 per cent of the project.  This
arrangement includes significant financial assistance from the existing shareholders. The impacts on Two Rivers of these factors
are under review, and go-ahead for this new mine awaits satisfactory resolution of these uncertainties.

BASE METALS

Nkomati continues to deliver excellent results. While the rand’s strength negatively impacted the South African mining industry over
the last year, in Nkomati’s case, the surging nickel price certainly compensated.  The current MSB mine was originally designed at
a production rate of 10 000 tons per month and it is a tribute to the people at the mine, that we were able to achieve over 24 000
tons per month over the last financial year.  

The proposed Nkomati expansion is equally exciting.  The current infill exploration drilling programme is delivering better than
expected mineralisation results and, together with the significant work that has been done on the feasibility study, I am confident
that we have the makings of a great new South African mining operation.  While the rand and Royalty Bill will have an impact on
the decision to proceed with this operation, the nickel price that is forecast to remain strong over the medium term will count in the
project’s favour.

Avmin is presently operating a pilot test facility, for a nickel-based superalloys plant located outside Johannesburg. Avmin Alloys
(AvAlloys) intends to produce high performance alloys for various applications using raw material feed obtained from Avmin (and
the South African mining industry) while utilising the benefit of low local operating costs. The key to success is to produce a good
quality product, that is within defined specifications for various users of alloys.  We are having advanced discussions with a large
aerospace engine manufacturer on product offtake and the provision of expertise.

We sold Chambishi, our Zambian cobalt and copper business, to the Swiss incorporated J&W Holding AG’s subsidiary ENYA Holdings
BV, effectively at year-end, for a cash consideration of US$6,5 million, equivalent to R49 million. Additional amounts of up to
US$25 million are payable to Avmin over the next six years, which are dependent on production volumes and defined minimum cobalt
prices being achieved by Chambishi over the next five years, as well as the resolution of Chambishi’s tax position. These additional
income flows have not been accrued. In addition, the purchasers have assumed responsibility for approximately US$25 million,
equating to R188 million, of contingent liabilities.

The decision to dispose of Chambishi was made to reduce the Group’s overall risk profile and to enable the repayment of related
US$170 million of debt at a time of rand strength. The disposal resulted in a consolidated Group loss of R649 million (R1 619 million
impairment). Avmin has no material remaining liabilities or obligations relating to Chambishi. 
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EXPLORATION

One of the aspects of Avmin’s business that does not receive high profile attention are our exploration initiatives.   This has, for
many years, been a part of the core delivery for the Group, namely: the discovery, assessment, building and profitable operation of
new mining ventures.  The Nkomati mine, the Forzando coal mine (since sold), the South iron ore mine, and more recently Target,
are just some of the examples.  Group exploration is continuing today at Nkomati, Assmang (notably on the vast northern iron ore
resources), north of the Target gold mine in the Free State, in Namibia (for gold), and in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC)
and Zambia for base metals.

In Namibia, our geologists have discovered a gold deposit in the northern part of that country at Otjikoto.  Early indications are that
potential exists for a shallow, open-pit, economically exploitable gold deposit, which could contain one to two million ounces of
gold. Gold mineralisation occurs with a shallow-dipping package hosting a 20 to 40 metre thick, fabric-parallel vein system with
gold grades ranging between 1 and 3 g/t over these widths. The Otjikoto gold discovery is being advanced to a feasibility study
stage. In addition, regional gold exploration programmes in the Otavi area surrounding the Otjikoto discovery, are also being fast-
tracked. We have a dominant, secured land position and a distinct technical advantage given our understanding of these newly
discovered mineralising systems. 

In Zambia and the DRC, we have seven locations covering large tracts of land that have indicated significant, mainly copper/cobalt,
resources. These areas are the subject of either seismic studies, exploration drilling, data sharing or pre-feasibility studies.  As a
diversified entity with considerable experience in the southern and central African region, and with a more robust outlook for copper,
Avmin will continue its efforts to assess the viability of building new low-cost, high margin operations in these areas.

MY APPRECIATION

I would like to express my appreciation to all Avmin staff for their dedication and support during a tough year. Specifically, I would
like to thank employees at the operations for their special effort to improve on production targets, while maintaining operating costs
and the Johannesburg staff for their co-operation and understanding during the restructuring. Avmin, with its highly skilled and
experienced workforce, is well placed to meet the challenges of the future.

PROJECT PIPELINE
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AVMIN’S GROWTH STRATEGY IS UNDERPINNED
BY ITS QUALITY OPERATING ASSETS AND
MAJOR IN-HOUSE GROWTH PROJECTS
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Assmang Limited, 50,3 per cent owned by Avmin, operates three divisions: manganese, iron ore and chrome. Its

manganese ore and iron ore mining operations, Nchwaning and Beeshoek, are in the Northern Cape. Manganese

alloys are produced at the smelting and refining facilities at Cato Ridge, KwaZulu-Natal. Chrome ore is mined at the

Dwarsrivier mine in Mpumalanga, and chrome alloys are produced at the nearby Machadodorp works.
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FERROUS METALS – ASSMANG: Revenue for the year ended 30 June 2003 rose by 3,4 per cent to R2 905 million through a strong
operating performance, while headline earnings decreased by 54 per cent to R204 million (R443 million) primarily as a result of
the strengthening of the rand/US dollar over the past year – an average exchange rate of R8,97 to the US dollar was realised on
export proceeds compared with R10,12 for the previous year.

Headline earnings by the three divisions, before deducting Secondary Taxation of Companies, amounted to R285 million
(R351 million) from the manganese division, R59 million (R135 million) from the iron ore division and a loss of R134 million
(R40 million – loss) from the chrome division.

Assmang’s product sales for the year were:

2003 2002
metric tons 000 000

Iron ore 5 263 4 775
Manganese ore (excluding deliveries to the Cato Ridge alloy operation) 1 171 999
Manganese alloys 206 187
Charge chrome 244 190
Chrome ore (excluding deliveries to Machadodorp alloy operation) 20 39
Captial expenditure  (million) R338 R372

IRON ORE: World steel production for the first half of 2003 increased by 8,2 per cent to 466 million tons and production in calendar
2003 is expected to reach 955 million tons (902 million tons). The biggest contributor to these record levels is China, which
increased steel production for the first half of 2003 by 21 per cent. Consequently sales volumes of iron ore for the year under review
increased to a record 5,3 million tons (4,8 million tons). Further increases in sales volumes are likely to be restricted by the limited
additional railage and shipping capacity through the port of Saldanha Bay. US dollar prices for both lumpy and fines have increased
by just below nine per cent on average for the period April 2003 to March 2004.

MANGANESE: Manganese ore also benefited from the increase in global steel production. Sales volumes, excluding deliveries to
the company’s Cato Ridge Works, increased to 1,2 million tons (1,0 million tons). Sales of manganese alloys increased over the
previous year to 197 000 tons (187 000 tons) in line with higher production at the Cato Ridge Works. High carbon ferro-manganese
export sales reduced by 15 000 tons to 127 000 tons due to increased transfers of molten metal for the production of refined 
ferro-manganese. Sales of refined ferro-manganese increased to 45 000 tons (32 000 tons). Silico manganese sales improved as
a result of higher production volumes to 25 000 tons (13 000 tons). The expected increase in world steel production will result in
an increased demand for manganese alloys. The supply of manganese alloys has returned to normal following supply disruptions
experienced during calendar 2002.

CHROME: The stronger rand together with low charge chrome stocks world wide resulted in US dollar prices rising by approximately
50 per cent over the past year. Sales volumes of charge chrome increased by almost 30 per cent to 244 000 tons (190 000 tons).

PROJECTS: Assmang continued its significant capital programme, spending R338 million (R372 million) during the year, of which
R95 million was spent on its new shaft complex at the Nchwaning manganese mine. The project is scheduled for completion during
mid 2004 at a total cost of R601 million excluding capitalised interest. Current and additional enhancement projects include the
possible construction of an underground mine at Dwarsrivier chrome mine and the development of additional mineable reserves for
the iron ore division.

OUTLOOK: Sales of Assmang’s products remain fairly buoyant and tonnages for the year appear likely to approximate those of the
previous financial year. With the exception of ferro-manganese, US dollar prices for Assmang’s products are expected to be higher
than those achieved in the 2003 financial year. Earnings growth will be significantly dependent on the rand/US dollar exchange rate
and, to a lesser extent, cost saving initiatives at the Company’s divisions. Better margins for ferro-chrome could flow from improved
utilisation of available capacity and higher prices.

Various expansion scenarios involving the Group’s iron ore assets in the Northern Cape are being investigated and the company
has entered into a heads of agreement with Kumba Resources Limited for the purpose of technical information exchange with a
view to evaluating certain of these possibilities.

C E O ’ S  R E P O R T  |  F E R R O U S  M E TA L S
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The precious metals division comprises:

• Avgold Limited, 42,3 per cent owned by Avmin, operates the Target gold mine and is currently conducting

exploration and project feasibility work on a large, unexploited adjoining gold resource north of Target.

• Two Rivers Platinum (Proprietary) Limited, 55 per cent owned by Avmin, is in the process of advancing a feasibility

study to assess the viability of a 200 000 ounce a year PGM operation. Two Rivers has been granted a mining

licence and its environmental management programme was approved.
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PRECIOUS METALS – AVGOLD: The Target mine was commissioned in May 2002 and the ETC division was sold in June 2003. These

two events fundamentally changed the profile of Avgold. Revenue increased significantly to R1 000 million (R364 million) following the

commissioning of Target. Headline earnings increased to R26 million (R21 million) after the R103 million charge to income following

the restructuring of the rand-gold hedge book into US dollar denominated gold hedges. Headline earnings before the unrealised hedge

derivative adjustment were R128 million (R36 million).

Avgold

Operating results 2003 2002

Operating profit R million 109,9 17,3

Gold sold kg 11 899 4 179

Yield g/t 8,57 8,56

Cash costs R/kg 56 503 64 277

US$/oz 193 198

Capital expenditure R million 122,9 437,5

TARGET: The mine milled 1 068 376 tonnes of ore at a yield of 8,57g/t. Gold sold amounted to 9 155kg, of which 697kg was from

the old Loraine mine’s cleanup. The cash cost was R51 327/kg, or US$175/oz. Capital expenditure decreased significantly to

R100,5 million (R404,8 million). Target’s life of mine plan was updated during the year, extending the mine’s life by five years to

18 years. The revised proven and probable underground reserves increased from 2,52Moz to 3,86Moz.

ETC: Avgold sold its ETC assets for R255 million to a Metorex Limited led consortium, realising a profit of R7,1 million. During the

period to 15 June 2003, the date of sale, ore milled at ETC rose to 320 388 tonnes (315 523 tonnes) from the Sheba, New Consort

and Fairview mines, at a yield of 8,56 g/t (8,89 g/t). Total gold sold decreased slightly to 2 744 kg (2 805 kg) at a cash cost of

R73 744/kg (R69 805 /kg) or US$252/oz (US$215/oz).

NORTHERN FREE STATE: The surface exploration drilling in the Target north area, immediately north of Target mine, was

completed. This, together with additional underground exploration drilling, resulted in 5,66Moz being upgraded from the inferred to

indicated resource category.

Mineral resources

Target extension (including Sun) 2003 2002

Indicated (Moz) 24,49 18,83

Inferred (Moz) 35,13 42,62

Total (Moz) 59,62 61,45

HEDGING: As at 30 June 2003 Avgold’s hedge book represented 72 per cent of forecast gold production to June 2006 and had a

mark-to-market value of a negative R192 million. This was calculated at a gold price of US$346,15/oz and an exchange rate of

US$1,00:R7,51. The hedges are un-margined and Avgold is maintaining its policy of not using derivative instruments for speculative

purposes. During June 2003 the rand gold hedge book was restructured in terms of the company’s hedging policy into US dollar

gold commodity hedges, and as a result of the rigid structural rules of the Generally Accepted Accounting Statement on Financial

Instruments, AC133, an amount of R103 million was charged to the income statement.

PRECIOUS METALS – TWO RIVERS PLATINUM (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED (Two Rivers): The mining licence and environmental

management programme were, respectively, granted and approved by the Department of Minerals and Energy in March 2003.

Expenditure of R29 million was incurred duing the year. An additional R47 million has been approved by the shareholders for

the continuation of the project. Avmin presently holds 55 per cent of the equity and Impala Platinum Holdings Limited the

balance. A memorandum of understanding was signed with a consortium led by TISO Capital (Proprietary) Limited to acquire

up to 25 per cent of Two Rivers’ equity.



24 | CEO’s Report – Base Metals

The base metal division now comprises the Nkomati mine, South Africa’s only primary nickel producer,

following the sale of Chambishi Metals plc. Nkomati also produces copper, cobalt and platinum group metals

as by-products.
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BASE METALS – NKOMATI MINE: This 75 per cent owned mine performed well, notwithstanding the significant strengthening of the
rand against the US dollar, as a result of increased production and the strong performance of the US dollar nickel price during 2003.

SALES TONNAGES: The mine treated a total of 302 000 tons (256 000 tons) of ore, producing 55 300 tons (46 500 tons) of
concentrate at an average nickel grade in concentrate of 9,96 per cent (9,33 per cent).

The quality of the MSB orebody was demonstrated once again with nickel head grades averaging 2,38 per cent, significantly above
the planned head grade of 2,18 per cent. The mine has been consistently operating at its maximum design capacity at an average
of 25 000 tons of run-of-mine ore a month and the objective is to maintain the overall nickel grade, while keeping the costs at
current levels.

Nkomati
Production 2003 2002

Nickel tons 4 900 3 900
Copper tons 3 300 3 000
Cobalt tons 62 52
PGMs ounces 39 000 35 000

Excluding nickel, other metals contributed 35 per cent (42 per cent) of the mine’s total revenue. The nickel price averaged
US$3,48/lb (US$2,68/lb) during the year and the mine’s cash cost to produce nickel, net of by-products, was US$0,67/lb
(US$0,32/lb).

FINANCIAL RESULTS: The mine’s revenue for the year increased by 16 per cent to R503 million (R435 million), despite the
strengthening of the rand, as a result of the stronger US dollar nickel price and higher metal production recorded during the year.
Cost of sales increased 19 per cent to R260 million (R218 million); this was comparable with increased production. Operating profit
increased 13 per cent to R236 million (R209 million), and profit before tax was lower at R203 million (R221 million) as a result of
the decline in interest received and the increase in exchange losses.

EXPANSION: Further alternatives have been evaluated for the expansion of the mine. An infill-drilling programme is currently
underway to assist in finalising mine plans. Once completed, the decision to expand the mine will be presented for final approval.

BASE METALS – CHAMBISHI: The planned redesign and refurbishment of the furnace at Chambishi in August/September 2002
affected Chambishi’s operating results significantly, Chambishi reached full production levels in December 2002.

PRODUCTION: Chambishi increased cobalt production by 32 per cent to 4 900 tons (3 700 tons) from toll refining and smelting,
while incurring a headline loss of R95 million, compared to the previous year’s R221 million loss.

SALE: The Avmin board decided that selling Chambishi was the best option, after:

• Fully assessing the impact of the various technical problems that have been experienced at Chambishi;

• Evaluating the projected return on investment and cash flows;

• Considering the near-term requirement for additional on site capital investment;

• Considering the constraints imposed by the limitations on investment in the SADC region, which Avmin had exceeded; and

• The decision by the Zambian government to sell the Baluba and Luanshya copper operations to J&W Holdings AG, and the non-
implementation of the development agreement.

Together with the Chambishi sale, the disposal of 13 per cent of Avgold’s issued share capital, and using its own rand cash
resources Avmin was in a position to repay the US dollar debt – at advantageous exchange rates – that had been raised to
purchase and sustain Chambishi. Prior to the sale, repayment of the US dollar debt utilising Avmin’s rand resources had
been precluded.

JAN STEENKAMP
Chief executive officer

Johannesburg
3 October 2003
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GENERAL STATEMENT
Avmin’s method in reporting of mineral resources and mineral reserves conforms to the South African Code for Reporting Mineral
Resources and Mineral Reserves (SAMREC Code) and the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Joint Ore Reserves
Committee Code (JORC Code).

The convention adopted in this report is that mineral resources are reported exclusive of that portion of the total mineral resource
converted to a mineral reserve, unless otherwise specified. Underground resources are in-situ tonnages at the postulated mining
width, after deductions for geological losses and pillars. Resources from dumps are estimated as in-situ tonnages.

Underground mineral reserves reflect milled tonnages while surface (dumps) mineral reserves are in-situ tonnages without dilution.
Both are quoted at the grade reporting to the mill.

The evaluation method is generally ordinary kriging with mining block sizes ranging from 20*20m2 to 100*100m2. Inverse distance
is used in a few instances and with similar block sizes. The evaluation process is fully computerised and mostly decentralised. The
software package utilised is Datamine. The Sichel-t estimator is often applied in gold exploration projects.

ASSMANG LIMITED
The mineral reserves of the iron operations (Beeshoek) increased during 2003 by eight per cent to 487Mt (449,8 Mt), while the
mineral resources decreased by three per cent to 488,1Mt (503,6Mt). These variations result from the intensified drilling programmes
that have enabled the definition of new resources and the conversion of a considerable amount of resources to reserves, particularly
for the deposits in the Bruce farm 544 Kuruman District. Mineralisation at 60 per cent iron and below is considered contaminated
ore and discarded from the resource/reserve base.

Manganese operations (Nchwaning and Gloria). The mineral reserves remained practically unchanged from last year at 11,6Mt (12Mt )
while the mineral resources dropped by 28 per cent to 155,5Mt (215,9Mt ). The latter is due primarily to the revaluation of the inferred
mineral resources in Gloria as a result of geological reinterpretation. The mineral resources and reserves are reported at current contract
grades or at guaranteed minimum grades, whichever is relevant.

Chromitite operations (Dwarsrivier). Mineral reserves remained unchanged from last year at 25,9Mt . The mineral resources
dropped by 34 per cent to 69,8Mt (106Mt ). This arises from the conversion of resources to reserves and the revaluation of
inferred mineral resources.

AVGOLD LIMITED
The following parameters were used in the assessment of mineral resources and mineral reserves for Avgold:

Parameters Measure Target

Gold price R/kg R106 000
Pay limit g/t 4,00-7,001

Block factor % n/a
Dilution % 7,32
Mine recovery factor2 % 94,0
Plant recovery factor % 96,7

1 Pay limit varies within the range given dependent on the mining method and orebody geometry
2 Mine recovery factor is the ratio of gold estimated in-situ and gold reporting to the plant

In-situ mineral resources were estimated at the following cut-off grades:
Measured and indicated mineral resources 0,0-2,0g/t3

Inferred mineral resources 2,0-3,0g/t4

3 Subject to mining method and reefs/partings structural relationship
4 2,0g/t within Target mine and 3,0g/t for Target extensions

Avgold reserves in 2003 increased by 16 per cent to 3,93Moz (2002: 3,39Moz) while the resources decreased by six per cent to
74,56Moz (79,72Moz). The main reasons for these variations were the disposal of the ETC division during the year and the inclusion
of results of the drilling programmes. These programmes have been undertaken in the Paradise portion of the Target mine lease area
and between the Dam Fault and the Blast Fault and have added further Elsburg Reefs, Big Pebble Reefs and Dreyerskuil Reefs to the
probable mineral reserve and indicated mineral resource base.
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AVMIN
The TWO RIVERS PLATINUM project (Two Rivers) is owned by Avmin, and Impala Platinum Holdings Limited. It is located within
the southern sector of the eastern limb of the Bushveld complex, on the farm Dwarsrivier 372KT. The UG2 and Merensky orebodies
are present on the farm. A feasibility study has been completed recently on the UG2 orebody and a pre-feasibility study is near
completion on the Merensky orebody.

An extensive exploration drilling campaign has targeted the UG2 over the property and provided Merensky intersections to the west
of the Merensky outcrop position. A total of 125 boreholes, of which 73 were drilled by Two Rivers, formed the base of the feasibility
study. A detailed geological model of the UG2 reef facies (defined as geozones based on the number of chromite layers present),
structure, PGE mineralisation, rock engineering parameters, and metallurgical performance for the life-of-mine was compiled. The
grade evaluation was derived by ordinary kriging of 325 UG2 intersections. The mineral resources of the UG2 are defined from the
top contact to the base of the main UG2 chromitite layer including all internal pyroxenite dilution.

The mine will be developed as a trackless mechanised operation, using a bord-and-pillar mining layout. The concentrate will be
treated using a mass flotation circuit; dense media separation (DMS) is not required at Two Rivers.

The resource to reserve conversion was done using the Mine 2-4D optimisation software package to select the optimum economic
cut subject to the geological, geotechnical, and trackless mining constraints. Unplanned and off-reef dilution, followed by a 95 per
cent mine call factor (MCF), have been applied to the output from the optimiser to provide the fully diluted mill head grade of the
reserves.

For convenience at this stage of the feasibility study, the mineral resources are inclusive of those mineral resources converted to
mineral reserves. For all practical purposes, all of the measured and indicated mineral resources of the UG2 were converted to
mineral reserves in the feasibility.

NKOMATI: The mineral resources and reserves were unchanged from last year arising from the re-evaluation of the mine’s reserves.
A cut-off grade of 0,3 per cent nickel or higher was applied. Nkomati is a joint venture with Anglo Operations Limited with Avmin
owning 75 per cent of the operation.

COMPETENCE
The competent person with overall responsibility for the compilation of the mineral reserves and resources is Dr FA Camisani-
Calzolari, (PrScNat); a private consultant to Avmin.

The following competent persons were involved in the calculation of mineral resources and reserves. They are employed by Avmin
or its subsidiaries, unless otherwise stated:

Resources Reserves
M Burger, PrSciNat VG Duke, PrEng
RM Carey, PrSciNat A Durrant, NHD.Met.Min
LAD Carter*, MGASA D Heyl, BSc (Min. Eng)
A du P Ferreira, PrSciNat N Horswell, PrEng
R Hornsey, PrSciNat L Monama, BSc (Min. Eng)
Dr WD Northrop, PrSciNat A Mostert, PrMs
A Pretorius, PrSciNat N Muller, BSc (Min. Eng)
RF Tucker, PrSciNat N Schwab, PrEng
P van der Merwe, PrSciNat
R van der Westhuizen, PrSciNat
J Vieler*, PrSciNat
JAS Woolfe, PrSciNat

*Private consultant

Most of the competent persons are members of either the South African Council of Natural Scientific Professionals (SACNASP,
PrSciNat) or Engineering Council of South Africa (ECSA, PrEng) or the Association of Professional Surveyors of South Africe
(PLATO, PrMs), and each have in excess of five years’ experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposits under
consideration.

Consulting firms routinely audit the resources and reserves of most operations.

Maps, plans and reports supporting resources and reserves are available for inspection at Avmin’s registered office and at the
relevant mines.
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DEFINITIONS

The definitions of resources and reserves, quoted from the SAMREC CODE, are as follows:

A ‘mineral resource’ is a concentration (or occurrence) of material of economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in such form,

quality or quantity that there are reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, continuity

and other geological characteristics of a mineral resource are known, estimated from specific geological evidence and knowledge,

or interpreted from a well constrained and portrayed geological model. Mineral resources are subdivided, in order of increasing

confidence in respect of geoscientific evidence, into inferred, indicated and measured categories.

An ‘inferred mineral resource’ is that part of a mineral resource for which tonnage, grade and mineral content can be estimated with

a low level of confidence. It is inferred from geological evidence and assumed but not verified geological and/or grade continuity. It

is based on information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill

holes that may be limited or of uncertain quality and reliability.

An ‘indicated mineral resource’ is that part of a mineral resource for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical characteristics,

grade and mineral content can be estimated with a reasonable level of confidence. It is based on exploration, sampling and testing

information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The

locations are too widely or inappropriately spaced to confirm geological and/or grade continuity but are spaced closely enough for

continuity to be assumed.

A ‘measured mineral resource’ is that part of a mineral resource for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical characteristics,

grade and mineral content can be estimated with a high level of confidence. It is based on detailed and reliable exploration, sampling

and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill

holes. The locations are spaced closely enough to confirm geological and grade continuity.

A ‘mineral reserve’ is the economically mineable material derived from a measured and/or indicated mineral resource. It is

inclusive of diluting materials and allows for losses that may occur when the material is mined. Appropriate assessments, which

may include feasibility studies, have been carried out, including consideration of, and modification by, realistically assumed mining,

metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors. These assessments demonstrate at the

time of reporting that extraction is reasonably justified. Mineral reserves are subdivided in order of increasing confidence into

probable mineral reserves and proved mineral reserves.

A ‘probable mineral reserve’ is the economically mineable material derived from a measured and/or indicated mineral resource.

It is estimated with a lower level of confidence than a proved mineral resource. It is inclusive of diluting materials and allows for

losses that may occur when the material is mined. Appropriate assessments, which may include feasibility studies, have been

carried out, including consideration of, and modification by, realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal,

environmental, social and governmental factors. These assessments demonstrate at the time of reporting that extraction is

reasonably justified.

A ‘proved mineral reserve’ is the economically mineable material derived from a measured mineral resource. It is estimated with

a high level of confidence. It is inclusive of diluting materials and allows for losses that may occur when the material is mined.

Appropriate assessments, which may include feasibility studies, have been carried out, including consideration of, and modification

by, realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors. These

assessments demonstrate at the time of reporting that extraction is reasonably justified.

Dr FA Camisani-Calzolari, PhD (Sedimentology), MSc (Geostatistics)

29 August 2003
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Summary of mineral resources and mineral reserves
ASSMANG
IRON Tons
Beeshoek 000 %Fe
Proved mineral reserves 487 000 64,85
Measured mineral resources 357 100 64,81
Indicated mineral resources 8 000 64,76
Inferred mineral resources 123 000 65,01

Total mineral reserves 487 000 64,85
Total mineral resources 488 100 64,86

MANGANESE
Nchwaning %Mn %Fe
Proved mineral reserves 6 400 47,43 8,88
Measured mineral resources 84 400 44,66 8,31
Indicated mineral resources 11 000 48,98 10,21

Gloria
Proved mineral reserves 5 200 39,11 4,66
Measured mineral resources 1 300 37,23 4,84
Indicated mineral resources 22 000 39,35 6,00
Inferred mineral resources 36 800 38,07 5,44

Total mineral reserves 11 600 43,70 6,99
Total mineral resources 155 500 42,59 7,41

CHROMITITE
Dwarsrivier %Cr2O3 %FeO
Proved mineral reserves 15 146 39,26 23,28
Probable mineral reserves 10 772 38,75 22,95
Measured mineral resources 4 025 39,26 23,46
Inferred mineral resources 65 808 40,19 23,60

Total mineral reserves 25 918 39,05 23,15
Total mineral resources 69 833 40,14 23,59

AVGOLD
Tonnes

GOLD 000 g/tAu Moz
Proved mineral reserves 5 748 7,81 1,44
Probable mineral reserves 15 149 5,12 2,49
Measured mineral resources 4 126 4,58 0,61
Indicated mineral resources 111 903 7,26 26,12
Inferred mineral resources 238 228 6,25 47,83

Total mineral reserves 20 897 5,86 3,93
Total mineral resources 354 257 6,55 74,56
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AVMIN
PLATINUM GROUP METALS Tons g/t PGE*
Two Rivers† 000 +Au Moz
(UG2,UG2 leaders, Merensky orebodies)
Proved mineral reserves 10 500 4,35 1,47
Probable mineral reserves 29 800 4,11 3,94
Measured mineral resources 11 700 6,39 2,40
Indicated mineral resources 81 900 4,38 11,53
Inferred mineral resources 18 400 4,81 2,84

Total mineral reserves 40 300 4,17 5,41
Total mineral resources 112 000 4,66 16,78
*UG2 reef – the palladium: platinum ratio is 1:1,58

NKOMATI
NICKEL %Ni %Cu %Co g/tPt g/tPd
Proved mineral reserves 1 104 2,19 1,17 0,10 1,77 4,48
Indicated mineral resources 121 200 0,48 0,19 0,03 0,27 0,72
Inferred mineral resources 467 1,52 0,57 0,07 0,23 0,58

Total mineral reserves 1 104 2,19 1,17 0,10 1,77 4,48
Total mineral resources 121 667 0,48 0,19 0,03 0,27 0,72

NKOMATI
CHROMITITE %Cr2O3 %Ni
Indicated mineral resources 50 000 25,48 0,19

Note:

†Mineral resources are inclusive of mineral reserves in the Two Rivers Platinum project.

Resources and reserves are quoted in metric tons

Au gold FeO ferrous oxide
Co cobalt Mn manganese
Cu copper Ni nickel
Cr2O3 chrome ore Pt platinum
Fe iron Pd palladium
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LEGISLATION
Avmin is supportive of the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act (the Act) and accompanying broad-based
economic imperatives, and has embarked on initiatives aimed at meeting these requirements, as set out below. The Act will change
the current common law and statutory position in South Africa whereby mineral rights can be held privately. Instead, the State will
assume sovereignty and custodianship of all mineral rights in South Africa, and will grant prospecting rights and mining rights to
applicants, who might not be current holders. A transitional period is provided during which holders of existing mineral rights, upon
meeting certain requirements, may convert existing in-use mining or prospecting rights, or in the case of unused rights may apply
for new rights.

The Act also contains a provision intended to develop a broad based socio-economic empowerment charter facilitating the entry
of historically disadvantaged South Africans (HDSAs – africans, coloureds, asians, females), into the mining industry. The
scorecard which the State has issued pursuant to the charter requires, among other things, that mining companies achieve 15 per
cent HDSA ownership of mining assets within five years and 26 per cent within 10 years. The charter also requires that mining
companies provide plans for achieving employment equity at management level.

In view of meeting the charter’s requirements Avmin:

• Has encouraged empowerment at shareholder level:
– Black Economic Empowerment benefits from African Rainbow Minerals Investment and Exploration (Proprietary) Limited’s

involvement in the newly merged Harmony;
– Avmin signed a memorandum of understanding with TISO Capital (Proprietary) Limited to acquire up to 25 per cent of Two

Rivers Platinum (Proprietary) Limited;
– A Metorex Limited subsidiary which acquired ETC from Avgold has a 26 per cent HDSA shareholding through MCI Resources

(Proprietary) Limited; and
– The Group is also exploring other empowerment opportunities.

• Has initiated an audit of Avmin and how the Company meets the requirements of the charter. To this end a scorecard, which
evaluates the current position of Avmin relative to the required position five years after the Act is proclaimed, is in the process
of being compiled. This evaluation will highlight the areas where Avmin needs to concentrate its efforts in order to meet the
charter’s requirements.

• Is presently introducing a preferential procurement policy.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY
Avmin’s goals for the implementation of its employment equity strategy include the elimination of all discriminatory practices, direct
or indirect, and all forms of unfair gender discrimination.  Avmin has made significant progress in removing barriers that unfairly
restrict employment and development opportunities, and improved representation of designated groups at all levels to meet its long-
term objective of reflecting the demographics of the regions in which it operates.  The Company is committed to making clear
development and advancement opportunities available to all employees.  These goals are seen as business imperatives.

The Company has initiated a process for the accelerated development of employees, in compliance with the Employment Equity
Act.  This process is intended to address the existing equity imbalances as soon as possible.  

Avmin established a transformation committee chaired by the chairman of the board of directors to define targets and the strategy for
meaningful transformation.  The committee met regularly throughout the year to set targets for Avmin. National and industry demographics
and Group profiles were assessed.  Group succession plans were reviewed to identify positions pledged for Employment Equity
replacements and Group targets were identified per level. 

GROUP WORKFORCE PROFILE
The percentage of Avmin’s workforce defined as HDSAs within occupational categories are indicated below:

30 June 30 June 30 June
2001 2002 2003

Occupational categories % % %

Legislators, senior officials and managers 7 14 16
Professionals 40 38 38
Technicians and associate professionals 56 57 59
Clerks 97 96 98
Service and sales workers 91 84 94
Craft and related trade workers 51 44 42
Plant and machine operators and assemblers 92 92 92
Elementary occupations 98 98 98

In compliance with section 22 of the Employment Equity Act, the above table summarises the progress report as submitted to the Department of Labour, setting out the

occupational categories as at 30 June 2003.º
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GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
Anglovaal Mining Limited is committed to ensure that sound and effective systems of internal control and risk management practices are
developed, embedded, cost effectively implemented and consistently reviewed at all levels within the Group, in order to:
• Create and maintain a safe working environment to protect and promote the health, safety and well being of our people and the

communities in which we operate;
• Develop positive relationships with all stakeholders so that environmental needs and concerns are appropriately addressed;
• Preserve and enhance our assets and earnings potential; and
• Introduce a preferential procurement policy.

In the implementation of this policy we are:
• Actively pursuing measures to bring about further improvements in safety performance and consistently striving to protect the health,

safety and well being of all people affected by our operations;
• Integrating environmental management into all our activities (this key performance area regulates that we operate in accordance

with the principles and procedures of the environmental management programme as defined in the Mines and Minerals Act as a
minimum standard);

• Identifying, evaluating and regularly reviewing risks facing the Group and developing and maintaining appropriate contingency plans to
safeguard shareholders’ investment and company assets;

• Implementing and maintaining effective risk control programmes;
• Retaining risk and/or self insuring to our optimal capacity, consistent with conservative financial constraints and shareholders’

interests; and
• Using secure insurance and re-insurance markets to insure against catastrophic incidents and losses beyond our risk retention capacity.

The risk management committee, chaired by the group risk manager, comprising the chief executive officer, vice presidents and financial
officers, is responsible for co-ordinating and directing the overall risk management initiative within the Group. This includes the ongoing
review of our business and strategic risks, conducting and reviewing the regular independent evaluations of risk and risk control activities
in the Group in order to ensure that major risks are identified and managed, and that acceptable standards are maintained.

This committee is also responsible to ensure that risk management programmes comprehensively protect the Group against catastrophic
loss. The risk management committee reports to the board committee on risk.

The general manager of each operation is directly responsible for all aspects of risk management in the business areas under their control,
including determining their own specific insurance and risk financing arrangements.

The Group’s objective in implementing this risk management policy is to ensure that in conjunction with the activities of the internal
auditors and the audit committee, responsible and effective corporate governance is maintained and to manage, in the long-term, the total
cost of risk to all Group companies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Avmin, through the activities of its audit committee and the Group’s overall risk management initiatives, endeavours to identify and manage
risks and meet the criteria of the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002. For further details refer to the corporate
governance report on page 36.

CURRENCY AND COMMODITY PRICE RISKS
Avmin’s revenues are sensitive to currency fluctuations because all of Avmin’s revenues are generated using metal prices denominated in
US dollars, while most of the costs are incurred in rand. Depreciation of the rand against the US dollar increases Avmin’s revenue when
translated into rand, thereby increasing the operating margin. Conversely, appreciation of the rand against the US dollar, decreases
revenues when translated into rand. Accordingly, the effect on profitability of any change in the value of the rand against the US dollar can
be substantial.

Avmin has not actively hedged future commodity revenues for the commodities that it produces against price fluctuations. The only
hedging transactions that are outstanding are those residual gold hedges that Avgold was required to enter into to meet bank covenants
in securing a syndicated loan to bring its Target mine into production.

HIV/AIDS RISK
The prevalence of HIV/AIDS among our employees poses risks to Avmin by potentially reducing productivity and increasing medical and
other costs. The workforce has an infection rate of eight per cent compared to the 2002 national South African average of 26,5 per cent.
Details about how this risk is managed within the Group is provided in the sustainable development report 2003.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Mine Health and Safety Act 1996 imposes various duties on mines and grants the authorities broad power to, among other things,
close unsafe mines and order corrective action relating to health and safety matters. Avmin is well placed to proactively manage risks in
this regard through its sustainable development policy, details of which can be found overleaf.
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Avmin’s sustainable development mission is to convert mineral wealth into income and other forms of sustainable capital to the
mutual benefit of shareholders, employees, local communities, and other interested and affected parties where appropriate.

The five primary pillars of the Avmin policy on sustainable development are safety, health (occupational), the environment, social
and community investment, and HIV/AIDS. The key premise of the sustainable development policy is its ability to convert the raw
ore that Avmin mines (natural resource capital) into sustained shareholder income as well as new forms of capital such as
economic, social and human capital, all of which are essential requirements for sustainable development to succeed.

COMMITMENT
At Avmin we are committed to:

• Embedding sustainable development as an integral part of the business;

• An occupational health and safety approach that views any incident in a serious light and any accident at any of the operations
as unacceptable;

• The prevention and management of HIV/AIDS as a key strategic health imperative;

• An environmental goal that seeks to effectively and beneficially integrate the end use of mining land into the community and
ecology;

• Legal compliance (as a minimum), including clear and effective communication with government and the public, with third party
verification of performance reports;

• Ethical and transparent behaviour and practices based on the principles of honesty, equity, freedom and opportunity for
everyone;

• Willing and constructive engagement with employees on matters of mutual concern;

• Working smartly, responsibly and efficiently to effectively integrate economic, environmental and social needs as a basis for
continuously improving performance and ensuring trust; and

• Investing one per cent of our pre-tax profit to seed and enable sustainable development initiatives in communities.

KEY ELEMENTS OF THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

Sustainable development
as part of Avmin’s core business

Effective integration of economic, environmental and social needs

GOVERNANCE ISSUES

•   Top leadership commitment

•   Legal compliance and third party verification

•   Ethical and transparent behavior and practices

•   Constructive engagement with employees and other stakeholders

Safety
Health

Occupational
Environment

Social

investment
HIV/AIDS
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FRAMEWORK
Each Avmin operation is encouraged to develop its own sustainable development policy, strategy and programme; to meet its
unique circumstances and to give effect to the Group’s commitment to sustainable development. To this end, the Group’s policy
framework is as follows:

• Business case for sustainable development; A policy, strategy and programme at each operation reflecting the premise that
sustainable development makes good sense, and that ultimately, it is the core of what will sustain business itself;

• Community Development; The involvement of local communities and other role players in decisions impacting upon our
respective needs and concerns;

• Communication; Effective communication with all role players in the process of achieving “buy-in” and ownership;

• Partnership approach; Implementing sustainable development programmes in a manner complementary to state planning and
in partnership with government and other role players where appropriate; and

• Roles and responsibilities; Clear definition of the identity and responsibility of the various role players.

SAFETY, HEALTH AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
The board reports, with regret, six fatal accidents that occurred during the year at Group operations and extends its condolences
to the bereaved families and friends. Three fatalities occurred at the manganese mines, two at the iron ore mine, and one at ETC.
These deaths are viewed as a tragedy, and steps to reinforce the Group’s commitment to safety have been taken.

Avmin is gathering information on the extent to which it is exposed to business risks that stem from HIV/AIDS. Avmin’s HIV/AIDS
strategy seeks to adopt a proactive and caring approach while managing the impact the pandemic may have on its business.

Avmin’s sustainable development initiatives continue to contribute meaningfully to the social and economic landscape in South
Africa. Details on the Group’s activities are contained in the sustainable development report, which will be posted to shareholders
with the annual report.
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The Anglovaal Mining Limited Group has strong commitments to a wide range of corporate governance practices. The directors of
Avmin are ultimately accountable to shareholders and have a responsibility, both collectively and individually, to ensure that a high
standard of corporate governance is maintained.

KING CODE OF CORPORATE PRACTICE AND CONDUCT
The board of Avmin is committed to maintaining the standards of integrity, accountability and openness advocated in the King
Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002 (King II Report) and believes that in all material matters the Company has
complied with the stipulated requirements. Some minor exceptions are recorded under reports on the relevant committees.

The directors endorse and, since 1 July 2001, have applied the Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct set out in the King Reports
I and II.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Avmin has a unitary board of 11 directors. The members comprise a chairman, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, four
independent non-executive directors and four non-executive directors. Avmin has a full time chairman, with responsibility for
strategic matters and a separate chief executive officer. The board considers the appointment of a full time chairman as being in
the Company’s best interest. Their respective diverse skills and expertise are reflected on pages 6 to 8.

The board met on five occasions during the 2003 financial year. In addition, two ad-hoc meetings were held to consider the international
sale by the Company of 90 million Avgold Limited ordinary shares. Details relating to the board’s various committees are detailed below.

At the board meetings held on 23 July and 9 September 2003 the directors adopted a board charter and a revised code of ethics,
respectively. The board charter governs the conduct of the board as to strategic planning and performance, capital funding and financial
matters, operational matters, legislation compliance, appointment and removal of directors and matters pertaining to board
committees. The chairman is responsible for the attainment of the strategic objectives set by the board and ensuring that its policies
are adhered to. Further, the board has expressly included in its charter and those for its various committees regular reviews thus
ensuring their continued relevance. Corporate governance is consistently applied and promoted throughout the Group by these means.

The Company’s articles of association stipulate that the maximum term of office for directors is three years; one-third of the
directors retire by rotation annually and, if eligible for re-election, their names are submitted for election at the annual general
meeting. All directors who were appointed subsequent to the last annual general meeting are required to seek election at the
following annual general meeting. Directors seeking election at the annual general meeting are required to complete, sign and have
submitted to the JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa section 21 declarations as to their qualifications, experience and integrity.

Mr DN Murray has a consulting contract with the Company. There are no other contracts with board members. All directors are
entitled to seek independent professional advice about the affairs of the Company at its expense. Members have access to the
advice of the Group company secretary.

The directors fees and attendance fees payable to the chairman and directors were reviewed during the year and increases payable
from 1 July 2003 are recommended for adoption at the annual general meeting. It was felt that fees needed to be increased so as
to attract and retain members of the board. Full details are contained in the notice to annual general meeting on page 94.

The Company’s senior vice presidents attend all meetings of the board by invitation.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The directors of the Company appoint both executive and non-executive members to the various committees. The non-executive
directors play an active role, particularly in the capacity of chairmen of most committees. The committees meet at defined times
during the year and provide the board with an effective communication forum. The attendance of members at committee meetings
is reflected in the table “meeting attendances” on page 38. The delegation of authority to committees does not mitigate the board’s
responsibility for discharge of its duties to the Company’s stakeholders.

The information provided to the board is derived from external sources and internally from minutes, proposed strategies and plans
as well as reports of the Company’s activities. Detailed information is presented to the pertinent board committee. No restrictions
are placed upon accessing Avmin sources.

The directors’ responsibility relating to annual financial statements is detailed on page 41.
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Audit committee
KW Maxwell (chairman), DE Jowell, Dr MZ Nkosi, PC Pienaar

The members of this committee comprise three independent non-executive directors, one of whom is the chairman, and one
non-executive director. Three meetings were held during the 2003 financial year. The chairman of the Company, chief executive
officer and chief financial officer attend these meetings by invitation. 

The main responsibilities of this committee include the safeguarding of the Company’s assets and shareholders’ investments, the
maintenance of high standards of records and systems of internal control as well as the monitoring of standards of corporate
governance. The committee reviews all significant transactions that do not form part of the Company’s normal business as well as
related party transactions entered into by the Company. In addition, the committee pursues the objective of ensuring that effective
policies and practices are adopted in the preparation of public financial information. The committee conducts reviews of audits of
expenditure, and major business risks that are undertaken by both internal and external auditors. It examines the respective plans and
reports of the auditors to ensure effectiveness. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the audit committee.

The committee’s duties and responsibilities adopted in May 2000 are contained in ‘The Role of the Audit Committee’. This
document is being reviewed and enlarged into a charter during the 2004 financial year.  A charter governing Group internal audit
services is being considered by the committee as is a policy for non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditors. These
documents will be submitted for board approval early in 2004.

Nominations committee
RP Menell (chairman), DE Jowell, PT Motsepe, Dr MZ Nkosi

This committee was established on 11 September 2002 by the board and held its inaugural meeting on 15 January 2003.
The appointment of the chairman of the Company as chairman of the committee was proposed and ratified by the board. Apart
from the chairman there are three other non-executive members, two of whom are independent non-executive directors.

The board has ratified the committee’s charter and the process for reviewing prospective directors. The process will ensure that
selection will be both formal and transparent.

The committee’s function is to ensure that the board will have an appropriate skills and experience mix amongst its members having
regard to Avmin’s activities in southern Africa. The committee will investigate the background of potential candidates prior to
appointment to a seat on the board to ensure that such persons have no legal impediment to assuming such a role and that they
are of the calibre, credibility and with the necessary skills and experience to bring independent judgement to bear on matters before
the board.

Remuneration committee
KW Maxwell (chairman), JR McAlpine, RP Menell, ZB Swanepoel

Four directors comprise this committee being two independent non-executive directors, one of whom is the committee’s chairman,
one non-executive director, and the chairman of the Company. The members are not solely independent non-executive directors as
specified by King II Report. The chief executive officer attends meetings by invitation. Similarly, the manager: Human resources,
attends all meetings and has direct access to all committee members. Individuals withdraw from meetings when matters personally
affecting them are discussed. Five committee meetings were held during the twelve months to 30 June 2003.

This committee is tasked, by its charter, to ensure the payment of appropriate levels of remuneration to directors and senior
management of the Company. The committee determines broad policy for individual remuneration and benefits to maintain a
compensation policy that is both competitive and equitable. The committee authorises the granting of scheme shares and/or share
options to incentive scheme participants in accordance with the Anglovaal Mining Share Incentive Scheme’s trust deed.

Risk committee
DN Murray (chairman), DN Campbell, RP Menell, Dr MZ Nkosi, PC Pienaar, JC Steenkamp

The committee is chaired by a non-executive director and has as its members Avmin’s chairman, chief executive officer, chief
financial officer, an independent non-executive director and a non-executive director. Two meetings were held during the period
under review, chaired by the then chief executive officer. 
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The committee’s responsibilities and that of the management risk committee are contained in the terms of reference approved by

the board on 11 September 2002. These committees assist the board in the discharge of its duties in relation to risk matters,

providing assurance that:

• The main strategic and significant business risks facing the Group are identified together with attendant controls/management

assurance;

• The total process of risk management is effectively designed, implemented and monitored;

• The process is integrated into the day-to-day activities of the Group; and

• Ongoing consultations occur between the board risk and audit committees.

The management committee, that reports to the board risk committee, is chaired by the Group risk manager and comprises the

chief executive officer and senior executives. This committee meets regularly during the year to co-ordinate and monitor the Group’s

risk initiatives. Professional advisers attend these meetings and provide assurance that the risk initiatives are appropriately focused.

Four management committee meetings have been held during the year ended 30 June 2003.

The management committee has engaged the services of independent risk engineering consultants to grade each operation against

international risk standards for the management of fire, security, engineering, commercial, crime, environmental, contingency

planning and mining to monitor whether these standards are met. The committee is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate

financial and insurance mechanisms comprehensively protect the Group against catastrophe risk.

The management at each of the Group’s operations and at head office have identified, in conjunction with professional advisers and

the agreement of the relevant risk committees, all significant risks that exist in the Group and have documented control measures

and responsibility for dealing with these risks.

Sustainable development committee

Dr MZ Nkosi (chairman), KW Maxwell, RP Menell, PC Pienaar, JC Steenkamp

The committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, the Company’s chairman, chief executive officer, and one non-

executive director. The vice president: Sustainable development attends these meetings by invitation. Two committee meetings were

held during the year.

Safety and health matters are considered at every board meeting of directors. Avmin’s charter on sustainable development was

approved by the board on 9 September 2003, thereby replacing the existing terms of reference for the board’s environmental

committee, safety, health and environmental committee, policies on safety and health, and environmental strategy and policy. The

board’s and the committee’s primary focus is:

Safety. Evaluation of safety policy and Group statistics and performance. This evaluation incorporates the comparison of Group

results against benchmarks provided by other international mining companies and operations and the meeting of statutory and

regulatory compliance requirements. Group safety objectives take cognisance of these benchmarks. 

The fundamental approach within the Group towards safety is the active participation of all employees and contractors in the

attainment of "target zero, zero tolerance". This philosophy requires a structured approach together with training programmes that

have been devised and implemented at the operations. The approach has the full accountability and empowerment of appropriately

appointed persons and embraces risk assessment and management, the review of safety performance, in which the evaluation and

analysis of accident statistics are prominent features. Safety forums have been established at the operations. 

Occupational health. Evaluation of information from operations against set objectives relative to statutory and regulatory

compliance and those areas of specific interest to Avmin. Areas of concern include mangaruom, occupational lung diseases, and

noise induced hearing loss.

There is an ongoing process embracing medical examinations on appointment and cessation of employment, and thorough regular

testing coupled with occupational diseases prevention programmes at all operations.
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Environment. Evaluation of reports from operations against statutory and regulatory requirements. Approval of funds voted to meet

legislated requirements.

Avmin actively manages its environmental management responsibilities by having independent audits undertaken every second

year. The second audit cycle was completed during the 2003 financial year. The Group’s aim is to minimise the negative effects of

our mining activities on the environment by monitoring, ongoing rehabilitation and by the provision of adequate funding for operation

closure and post closure maintenance.

HIV/AIDS. A comprehensive strategy has been devised to hinder the spread of this disease at Avmin’s operations, full details of

which are contained in the sustainable development 2003 report which accompanies this annual report. Monitoring and evaluation

against this strategy receives urgent attention. Those affected are being counselled and assisted.

A Group sustainable development committee, comprising senior managers, under the chairmanship of the chief executive officer,

assists the board committee. The committee meets quarterly.

A preferential procurement policy is being developed and will be submitted to the board in early 2004 for approval.

Details of Avmin’s sustainable development and community intervention are also available in the sustainability 

development repor t.

Meetings attendance for the year ended 30 June 2003
Remune- Sustainable

Board Audit Nominations ration Risk Development

Appointed

Director (Resigned) Meetings attended/potential meeting attendances

Menell RP 5/5* 3/3 1/1* 5/5 2/2 2/2

Steenkamp JC 12/5/2003 1/1 1/1

Barber DD (8/5/2003) 4/4 2/2

Baum PM (8/5/2003) 4/4 1/1 1/1

Campbell DN 12/5/2003 1/1 1/1

Davison BE (8/5/2003) 3/4 3/4 1/2

Frank B (15/5/2003) 4/4 1/1 2/2

Jowell DE 3/5 2/3 1/1 2/2

Livnat N (9/12/2002) 0/3

Maxwell KW 5/5 3/3* 5/5* 2/2

McAlpine JR 5/5 4/5

Menell BM (16/5/2003) 2/4 1/2

Motsepe PT 5/5/2003 0/1

Murray DN 5/5 2/2*

Nkosi MZ 5/5 2/3 1/1 1/1 2/2*

Oron R (24/10/2002) 0/2

Pienaar PC 5/5/2003 1/1 1/1

Swanepoel ZB 5/5/2003 1/1 0/1

*Chairman

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMITTEE
This committee is mandated to assist in implementing the strategic direction of the Group, implementing strategy and maintaining

effective management on a day-to-day basis. The committee meets fortnightly and is chaired by the chief executive officer. The

committee includes the chief executive officer and chief financial officer. The committee members contribute a diverse range of

professional skills across the broad spectrum of the Company’s activities. Their names appear under senior management on page 9.

The vice president: Corporate development attends all committee meetings and has direct access to committee members.
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TREASURY COMMITTEE

The committee, under the chairmanship of the chief financial officer, meets fortnightly, and more often as necessary, with Andisa

Treasury Services (Proprietary) Limited (Andisa) to discuss market conditions, treasury operations and existing and future

hedging strategies. The primary focus of the committee is the reduction of risk in commodities and currencies. Andisa implements

decisions taken. Andisa does not perform an executive or decision-making role. Advice is also sought from other outsiders on a

continuous basis.

The committee operates within clearly defined parameters set by the board.

GROUP INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group internal audit department operates with full authority of the directors. The head of this department reports functionally

to the chairman of the audit committee and has unrestricted access to the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer and

other members of the audit committee. The internal audit department performs a variety of activities that ultimately result in an

examination and evaluation of the effectiveness of all operating sectors of the Group’s business. Through this process, operating

and business risks are highlighted and the systems of operating and financial controls are monitored. All issues are brought to

the attention of the audit committee, the directors and members of the executive and risk committees and external auditors.

Issues that require corrective actions are discussed by senior management and acted upon with urgency under the auspices of

the audit committee.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Company is committed to the highest standards of integrity, behaviour and ethics in dealing with all its stakeholders. All

directors and employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards to ensure that the Company’s business practices

are conducted in a reasonable manner, in good faith and in the interests of the Company. The board approved a revised Company

code of ethics on 9 September 2003.

The Company in the furtherance of ensuring that the code of ethics is adhered to has established and enforces regulations and

disciplinary procedures in this regard. 

The Company enforces closed periods prior to the publication of its interim and final results. During this time directors, officers and

designated persons who may have access to price sensitive information, are precluded from dealing in the Company’s securities.

A closed period extends from 15 days before the end of a reporting period or the financial year until the day of publication of the

results in the press. Where appropriate, dealing is also restricted during sensitive periods when major transactions are being

negotiated and a public announcement is imminent. These restrictions also apply to other listed companies within the Group.

With effect from 1 September 2003 all directors and designated officers are required to obtain the chairman’s, or in his absence

the chief executive officer’s or failing him the chief financial officer’s, written approval prior to dealing in the Company’s securities.

The Company’s chairman in these instances is required to seek the approval of the chairman of the remuneration committee. Similar

provisions apply to directors of other listed companies within the Group.
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Directors’ responsibility relating to annual financial statements
It is the directors’ responsibility to prepare annual financial statements that fairly present the state of affairs and the results of the
Company and of the Group. The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on these annual
financial statements.

The annual financial statements set out in this report have been prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice and International Financial Reporting Standards. They are based on appropriate accounting policies
which have been consistently applied, and which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The annual
financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the directors have no reason to believe that the business of
the Company will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

To fulfil its responsibilities, management maintains adequate accounting records and has developed and continues to maintain
systems of internal controls.

The Company and its subsidiaries’ internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
as to the integrity and reliability of the annual financial statements and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain their assets.
These controls are monitored throughout the Group and nothing has come to the directors’ attention to indicate that any material
breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements which appear on pages 42 to 86 were approved by
the directors on 3 October 2003 and are signed on their behalf by:

RP Menell
Chairman

JC Steenkamp
Chief executive officer

Johannesburg
3 October 2003

A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

A P P R O V A L  O F  A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
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To the members of Anglovaal Mining Limited
We have audited the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements of Anglovaal Mining Limited set out on
pages 43 to 86 for the year ended 30 June 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s directors. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

Scope
We conducted our audit in accordance with statements of South African Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit
includes:

• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements;

• assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and

• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and the Group
at 30 June 2003 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with South African
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by
the Companies Act in South Africa.

Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants (SA)

Registered Accountants and Auditors

Johannesburg
3 October 2003

C E R T I F I C A T E  B Y  S E C R E T A R Y

I certify that the requirements as stated in section 268G(d) of the Companies Act have been met and that all returns, as are required
of a public company in terms of the aforementioned Act, have been lodged with the Registrar of Companies and that such returns
are true, correct and up to date.

RH Phillips
Group company secretary

Johannesburg
3 October 2003
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Business of the Company
The business of the Company and its subsidiaries and associates is to explore, develop, operate and hold interests in the mining
and minerals industry. The operational focus is in the following areas: Ferrous, precious and base metals.

The Company maintains a core central unit that provides a range of services and skills within the areas of finance, legal services
and human resources. Strategic initiatives and commercial transactions are implemented and maintained by the central unit and the
Company also participates directly in, and arranges finance for mineral prospecting operations and mining development.

The Company’s shares are listed on the JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa and the London Stock Exchange.

Review of operations
The activities and results of operations of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2003 are incorporated in a message from the
chairman and CEO’s report: pages 11 to 25.

The most significant events which occurred during the year under review were:

Chambishi Metals plc’s redesigned furnace was successfully brought into operation during the first half of the year. During February
2003 the board decided to dispose of Chambishi Metals plc and Chambishi Marketing (Proprietary) Limited (“Chambishi”) to reduce
the overall risk profile of the Group.

Avgold Limited’s (“Avgold”) ETC division was sold. Avmin sold by way of an international placement 90 million of its Avgold shares during
April 2003.

The background and effect of these events are discussed below.

Acquisitions and disposals
The following significant transactions occurred during the year ended 30 June 2003:

• Avgold concluded the sale of its ETC division to a Metorex Limited led consortium during June 2003 for R255 million resulting
in a gain of R7 million. The proceeds were utilised to redeem part of the syndicated loan raised for the development of the Target
mine. This allowed Avgold to refinance the remaining debt facility and remove its US dollar debt exposure. Avgold’s year-end
debt:equity ratio was 5,6 per cent.

• Avmin’s 56 per cent holding in Avgold was reduced to 42,3 per cent following the sale of 90 million Avgold shares through an
international private placement. The US$72 million proceeds were used to repay Chambishi’s debt guaranteed by Avmin.

• Avmin’s entire 90 per cent holding in Chambishi was sold to the Swiss incorporated J&W Holdings AG’s subsidiary ENYA
Holdings BV, effectively at year-end, for a cash consideration of US$6,5 million, equivalent to R49 million. The proceeds from
the above transactions enabled the repayment of the related US$170 million of debt in the Group at the time of rand strength.

• Additional sums of up to US$25 million are payable to Avmin from Chambishi over the next six years. These sums are dependent
upon production volumes and defined minimum cobalt prices being achieved by Chambishi over the next five years, as well as
the resolution of Chambishi’s tax position. These additional sums have not been accrued. The disposal resulted in a Group loss
of R649 million (R1 619 million impairment). The control of the operation effectively passed to the new owners on 30 June
2003. The transaction was concluded on 17 July 2003 and the results to that date have been reflected for the year under review.

Other than the Chambishi transaction to the date of this report, no other significant acquisitions or disposals have taken place.

The Company’s direct and indirect interests in its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures, partnerships and other investments are
reflected in separate reports; refer pages 84 to 86.

Financial
The financial positions of the Company and the Group and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year under review
are reflected in the financial statements. Group borrowings at 30 June 2003 totalled R822 million (2002: R2 696 million) and at the
date of this report are R675 million. The Company’s borrowing powers in accordance with its articles of association are unlimited
save as to any regulation as may be made by the Company in general meeting. There are at present no such regulations. Avgold
continues to be consolidated as Avmin controls the board of directors.
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Share capital

The Company’s authorised share capital was increased by special resolution during the year from 196,7 million ordinary shares to

300 million ordinary shares and at 30 June 2003 was:

Authorised share capital R million

300 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each 15,0

The principal movements of issued share capital that occurred during the period were:

Issued share capital Shares

Shares in issue at 1 July 2002 111 443 652

Shares issued for options exercised by share incentive scheme participants 1 158 328

Shares in issue at 30 June 2003 112 601 980

Loans for purchase of mineral rights and mine development costs

The Company has advanced loans to certain subsidiary prospecting companies to finance the purchase of mineral rights and costs

related to mine development.

Changes in accounting policies

No changes were made to the accounting policies during the year ended 30 June 2003. The policies stated in the annual financial

statements are the same as for the year ended 30 June 2002.

Taxation

An appeal has been lodged against the assessment issued by the Revenue Authorities on the Company’s 1998 return of income,

Avmin’s contention being that the premium payable on redemption of loan stock was of a revenue nature and therefore allowable.

Our legal and tax advisers support our contention. No provision has been made in the annual financial statements for the

assessment of R107 million plus interest.

The 1999 return of income has not been assessed and certain items in the submission are under discussion with the Revenue

Authorities.

Returns of income for financial years 2000, 2001 and 2002 have been submitted to the Revenue Authorities, of these only June

2000 has been assessed.

Dividend policy

The current policy adopted by the directors is to declare an annual dividend with at least four times earnings cover.

Dividends

No dividends were declared during the year. In the light of the Company’s financial performance and the board does not consider

it appropriate to declare a dividend for the year ended 30 June 2003.
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Directorate

The names and details of the directors of the Company are reflected on pages 6 to 8.

The following appointments and resignations occurred during the year under review:

Director appointed Director resigned

DN Campbell 12/05/2003 DD Barber 08/05/2003

PT Motsepe 05/05/2003 PM Baum 08/05/2003

PC Pienaar 05/05/2003 BE Davison 08/05/2003

JC Steenkamp 12/05/2003 B Frank 15/05/2003

ZB Swanepoel 05/05/2003 N Livnat 09/12/2002

BM Menell 16/05/2003

WA Nairn 08/05/2003

Withdrawn as alternate to BE Davison

R Oron 24/10/2002

Mr DN Murray retired as the chief executive officer of the Company on 30 June 2003 and Mr JC Steenkamp was appointed in his

stead on 1 July 2003. Mr Murray remains on the board as a non-executive director.

There have been no changes to the composition of the board subsequent to those detailed above.

The only contracts between the Company and its directors is a consultancy agreement with Mr DN Murray effective from 1 July 2003.

Directors’ emoluments

The below detailed emoluments were paid to directors during the year ended 30 June 2003.

Bonuses and Pension Exercise

Board and performance scheme of share

committee related contri- Severance options Total Total

All figures in R000 fees Salary payments# butions package gains 2003 2002

Executive directors

RP Menell 168 2 289 436 237 – – 3 130 9 845

DN Murray 73 2 096 473 207 2 733 – 5 582 2 949

JC Steenkamp+ 14 170 – 22 – 453 659 –

DN Campbell+ 14 175 – 16 – – 205 –

BM Menell – – – – – – – 607

Total executive directors 269 4 730 909 482 2 733 453 9 576 13 401
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Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Bonuses and Pension Exercise
Board and performance scheme of share
committee related contri- Severance options Total Total

All figures in R000 fees Salary payments# butions package gains 2003 2002

Non-executive directors
DD Barber* 64 64 11
PM Baum* 60 60 11
BE Davison* 65 65 11
B Frank 64 64 52
DE Jowell 81 81 61
N Livnat 21 21 38
Dr TV Maphai – 35
KW Maxwell 131 131 402
JR McAlpine 77 77 63
BM Menell 50 50 1 240
PT Motsepe* 7 7 –
Dr MZ Nkosi 90 90 71
R Oron 13 13 63
PC Pienaar* 14 14 –
ZB Swanepoel* 10 10 –

Total non-executive directors 747 – – – – – 747 2 058

Total 1 016 4 730 909 482 2 733 453 10 323 15 459

Notes
+ Messrs JC Steenkamp and DN Campbell appointed directors 12 May 2003
* Acted in a representative capacity; fees paid to the shareholder represented.
# Bonuses and performance related payments made to directors. These payments are considered, individually for each

executive director, by the remuneration committee and are weighted in a 70:30 ratio as to Company performance: individual
performance, respectively. Payment was only made against individual performance as the threshold for Company
performance was not attained.

Fees paid during the year ended 30 June 2003 were:

Directors’ fees

Annual Per meeting

Chairman R75 000 R5 250
Director R43 000 R3 000

Increased fees: A motion will be proposed at the annual general meeting to increase the directors’ fees, payable annually and per
meeting. These fees were last increased on 1 July 2002. Please refer to page 94 for further details.

Committee fees, per meeting

Sustainable
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk development

Chairman R9 600 R6 600 R6 600 R8 000 R6 600
Member R6 000 R4 000 R4 000 R4 800 R4 000

The above committee fees were paid during the year ended 30 June 2003.
Increased fees: The board resolved to increase these fees by nine per cent with effect from 1 July 2003.
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Directors’ emoluments earned as directors of Avgold Limited, a subsidiary of Avmin

Bonuses and Pension Exercise
Board and performance scheme of share
committee related contri- options Total Total

All figures in R000 fees Salary payments butions gains 2003 2002

Executive directors
DN Campbell* 40 319 79 30 463 931 800
DN Murray+ – 70 1 927 7 2 004 1 906
JC Steenkamp*# 40 547 284 58 929 –

Total executive directors 80 936 2 290 95 463 3 864 2 706

Non-executive directors
RP Menell* 76 76 61
DN Murray+* 58 58 –
JC Steenkamp# – 36

Total non-executive directors 134 – – – – 134 97

Total 214 936 2 290 95 463 3 998 2 803

*Acted in a representative capacity; fees paid to the shareholder represented.
+Mr DN Murray was appointed a non-executive director of Avgold Limited on 1 September 2002. The emoluments paid to him,
other than board and committee fees, were for his term of office as an executive director of that company, including performance
related bonuses for the 2002 financial year.
#Mr JC Steenkamp was appointed Avgold’s managing director on 1 September 2002.

Options
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares of five cents each in the Company granted during the year to 30 June 2003 are shown in
the table below.

Avmin Avmin Avmin Avgold
Executive directors RP Menell JC Steenkamp DN Campbell DN Campbell
Granted as at 1 July 2002 12 May 2003 12 May 2003 12 May 2003
Number 385 131 315 615 196 266 628 893
Average exercise price per option – R21,63* R32,87* R35,51 R2,90

Granted during the year
Number 184 185 Nil Nil Nil
Strike price per option – 36,00 Nil Nil Nil

Exercised during the year
Number Nil 11 914 Nil 71 250
Average exercise price per option – Nil R0,71 Nil R9,02

Held as at 30 June 2003
Number 569 316 303 701 196 266 557 643
Average exercise price per option – R26,28* R34,13* R35,51 R2,90
Latest expiry date 20 September 2010 20 September 2010 20 September 2010 26 August 2007

*The average exercise price per share inclusive of options granted to option holders to compensate for the reduction in share price following the special distribution of

R27,00 per share in July 2000.
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Options granted to directors subsequent to year end
The following options have been granted:

Executive directors Options granted Options granted Strike price
Date Number Per option

R P Menell 19 August 2003 37 010 R38,00
JC Steenkamp 5 August 2003 93 562 R39,50
DN Campbell 19 August 2003 88 904 R38,00

The options expire in eight years.

Interests of directors
The direct and indirect beneficial and deemed beneficial interests of the directors of the Company (including after due enquiry in
this regard, their family interests) in the issued share capital of the Company at 30 June 2003 were as follows:

30 June 2003 30 June 2002
Ordinary shares Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

Direct interests
Executive directors
Non-executive directors
KW Maxwell 5 355 – 5 355 –

Indirect interests
Executive directors
RP Menell 263 149 – 263 149 –
DN Campbell 500 – – –
Non-executive directors
DD Barber – – 5 550 –
DE Jowell – – – 35 071

Total 269 004 – 274 054 35 071

The Company has not been notified of any changes in these interests during the period 1 July 2003 to the date of this report. A
register detailing directors’ and officers’ interests in contracts is available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.

Secretary
The group company secretary is Mr RH Phillips. His business and postal addresses appear on page 93.

Shareholder spread
The following are the only shareholders beneficially holding, directly or indirectly, in excess of five per cent of the ordinary shares
of the Company as at 30 June 2003:

Registered shareholder Beneficial shareholder
Shares % issued Shares % issued

Major shareholders held equity held equity

ABSA Bank Limited 7 264 577 6,45
First National Bank Limited 10 070 125 8,94
Nedcor Bank Nominees Limited 20 317 137 18,04
Old Mutual Holdings 12 549 913 11,15 12 549 913 11,15 Old Mutual Main Account
SMK Genomineerdes (Proprietary) Limited 38 821 530 34,48 19 394 881 17,22 African Rainbow Minerals

Gold Limited
19 394 880 17,22 Harmony Gold Mining

Company Limited
Standard Corporate & Merchant Bank 21 082 968 18,73
Directors 5 355 – 269 004 0,24 Directors

110 111 605 97,79 51 608 678 45,83 Non-public shareholders
Minorities 2 490 375 2,21 60 993 302 54,17 Public shareholders

112 601 980 100,00 112 601 980 100,00

Further shareholder analysis are reflected on page 92.
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Share incentive schemes
The Company has an employee share incentive scheme, namely The Anglovaal Mining Share Incentive Scheme (the Scheme).

Total options outstanding under the Scheme shall not exceed 10 per cent of the total issued share capital of the Company from time
to time.

In addition to the above, another share incentive scheme is operated within the Group, namely The Avgold Share Incentive Scheme.
This scheme’s requirement concerning the total options outstanding under this scheme shall not exceed five per cent of the total
issued share capital of Avgold Limited from time to time.

Options exercised by executive directors are also included in the following summaries of particulars required in terms of the Scheme
and the JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa Listings Requirements for schemes:

Anglovaal The Anglovaal
Mining Limited Mining Avgold Limited The Avgold

ordinary Incentive Strike price ordinary Share Incentive Strike price
shares in issue Scheme per share shares in issue Scheme number per share

Number Number Number Number
At 30 June 2002 111 443 652 4 362 160 672 943 402 9 624 425
Movements during the year:
Options
– granted 2 250 125 Varying 1 484 829 Varying
– exercised 1 158 328 (1 158 328) between 3 510 154 (3 510 154) between
– forfeited (113 734) R0,05* and (582 942) R2,00 and

R69,25 R11,80

At 30 June 2003 112 601 980 5 340 223 676 453 556 7 016 158

Movements subsequent to
Year end:
– granted 833 254 R38,00 and
– exercised 543 412 (543 412) R39,50

At 15 September 2003 113 145 392 5 630 065

15 September 2003 30 June 2003 30 June 2002

Options granted to participants during the period 833 254 2 250 125 1 444 821

Number of shares available for purposes of the trust 5 684 474 5 919 975 6 782 205

Options outstanding at 30 June 2003 were as follows:

Expiry date Number of options Average price

30 June 2005 1 635 69,25
30 June 2006 87 332 3,68
30 June 2007 291 900 0,05*
30 June 2008 1 400 562 31,94
30 June 2009 218 261 30,06
30 June 2010 1 090 408 33,50
30 June 2011 2 250 125 36,33

5 340 223

*The impact on option holders of the special distribution to shareholders in July 2000 of R27,00 per share was compensated as
follows:

The strike price was reduced by R27,00 per option to a minimum of R0,05 per share, being the nominal value; and
In the case of options at a strike price of less than R27,00 additional options were issued at a strike price of R0,05 each in respect
of the value lost between R27,00 and the original strike price.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS passed by the Company and its subsidiaries during the period 1 July 2002 to the date of this report were:

Avmin
At the annual general meeting held on 8 November 2002 new memorandum and articles of association were adopted. 
The principal changes to the memorandum and articles of association were the cancellation of the compulsorily convertible
preference shares’ authorised share capital, increase in the authorised share capital from R9,8 million to R15 million ordinary
shares of R0,05 each, and the main business and objects clauses were changed to more accurately describe the Company’s
business as “a mining and mineral company”. The previous unlimited borrowing powers contained within the articles of association
were not changed.

Similar articles of association were adopted at the annual general meetings held by Avgold Limited and Village Main Reef Gold
Mining Company (1934) Limited on 18 October and 9 October 2002, respectively.

STRATE (Share Transactions Totally Electronic)
The Company’s shares were dematerialised on 5 November 2001. Should you wish to trade your certificated Avmin shares on the
JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa (JSE), you are urged to deposit them with a CSDP (Central Securities Depository Participant)
or qualifying stockbroker as soon as possible. Trading in the Company’s shares on the JSE is only possible if they exist in electronic
format in the STRATE environment. Should you have any queries please contact the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare
Limited, Investor Services Division whose details are set out on page 93.

Reporting in United States dollars
To assist international investors a translation of convenience into United States dollars is provided for the Group balance sheets,
income statements, changes in equity and cash flow statements. These translations are based on average rates of exchange for
income statement and cash flow statement items and at those ruling at year end for the balance sheet items. These documents are
reflected on pages 87 to 91.
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The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice and International Financial Reporting Standards.

The principal accounting policies as set out below have been consistently applied.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND GOODWILL
Joint ventures
Joint ventures are contractual agreements whereby the Group has joint control over the financial and operating policy decisions of
the enterprise. The Group’s attributable share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of such jointly controlled entities is
proportionately consolidated on a line-by-line basis in the Group financial statements.

The post-acquisition results of joint ventures are adjusted where necessary to take account of the effects of fair value from the
effective date of acquisition to date of disposal.

Subsidiary companies
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairments.

The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the dates of effective control up to the dates effective control ceases. The post-
acquisition results of subsidiaries are adjusted for the effects of fair value adjustments at acquisition, unrealised profits and
goodwill adjustments.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the investment over the fair value attributable to the net assets acquired. Goodwill is
included in the total amount of intangible assets and is amortised on the straight-line basis over estimated useful life to a maximum
of 20 years.

Any excess of the value attributable to the net assets acquired over the cost of the investment acquired is treated as negative
goodwill. Where negative goodwill is considered to represent future losses and expenses it is amortised to the income statement
as the losses and expenses are incurred. To the extent that negative goodwill does not relate to future expected losses and
expenses, the amount of negative goodwill, not exceeding the fair values of acquired identifiable non-monetary assets, is
recognised systematically over the estimated useful life of the depreciable non-monetary assets and any excess over fair value is
recognised in income immediately.

Inter-Company transactions and balances
Consolidation principles relating to the elimination of inter-Company transactions and balances and adjustments for unrealised
inter-Company profits are applied in all intra-Group dealings, whether it be transactions with subsidiaries, associated companies
or joint ventures.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or development of a qualifying asset that requires a
substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended use are capitalised. Borrowing costs, on these assets, are expensed from
the time that production becomes commercially viable.

DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognised in respect of temporary differences between the book value and tax base of
balance sheet items, including items with a tax base but no book value. The resulting net deferred tax assets or net deferred tax
liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.

Deferred tax is not recognised when the transaction involves the initial recognition of an asset or liability that is not subject to a
business combination, and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax assets are not
recognised on negative goodwill and no deferred tax liability is recognised on goodwill for which amortisation is not deductible for
tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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Deferred tax is calculated at the applicable rate for mining and non-mining taxes. In the case of mining taxes for gold mines,

deferred tax is calculated at the mining cost formula rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the

liability is settled.

SECONDARY TAXATION ON COMPANIES

Secondary tax on companies (STC) is recognised on the declaration date of all dividends and is included in the taxation expense in

the income statement.

ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION OBLIGATION

The estimated cost of final rehabilitation, comprising liabilities for decommissioning and restoration, is based on current legal

requirements and existing technology and is reassessed annually. Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from

the sale of assets.

Decommissioning

The present value of estimated future decommissioning obligations at the end of the operating life of an operation is included in

long-term provisions. The unwinding of the obligation is included in the income statement. The related decommissioning asset is

recognised in fixed assets.

Restoration

The present value of the estimated cost of restoration is included in long-term provisions. This estimate is revised annually and any

movement is charged against income.

Expenditure on ongoing rehabilitation is charged to the income statement as incurred.

Environmental rehabilitation trust funds

Annual payments are made to rehabilitation trust funds in accordance with statutory requirements. The trust funds are recognised

separately from the related liability on the balance sheet.

EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE

Exploration expenditure comprises expenditure incurred and advances made in respect of exploratory ventures for mining activities.

The costs of exploration programmes are expensed in the year in which they are incurred, except for expenditure on specific

properties which have indicated the presence of a mineral resource with the potential of being developed into a mine, in which case

the expenditures are capitalised and amortised in the same way as detailed in the accounting policy for Tangible assets – mine

development and decommissioning below. Where it is subsequently found that no potential exists to develop a mine, the capitalised

costs are written off in full.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade receivables, trade

creditors, foreign exchange contracts and borrowings. Initial recognition is at cost when the Group becomes party to their

contractual arrangements. Subsequent recognition is at fair value or at amortised cost. The recognition methods adopted are

disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item. At each balance sheet date an assessment is made whether

any financial assets are impaired. In the case of any impairment the asset is written down to the income statement.

Derivative instruments

Gains and losses on derivative instruments that effectively establish the prices for future production are recognised in revenue when

the related production is delivered. In the event of early settlement of hedging contracts, gains and losses are brought into revenue

at the date of settlement. Any potential loss on hedge positions below the current cost of production is recognised in the period in

which it arises. These are accounted for as “normal purchase/normal sales transactions”.
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Forward exchange contracts are valued at the balance sheet date using the forward rate available at the balance sheet date for the
remaining maturity period of the forward contract. Any gain or loss from valuing the contract against the contracted rate is
recognised in the income statement unless the contract qualifies for special hedge accounting. A corresponding forward exchange
asset or liability is recognised.

On settlement of a forward exchange contract, any gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.

Where the Group enters into cashflow hedges that qualify for special hedge accounting the effective portion of fair value gains and
losses is recognised in equity. The ineffective portion is expensed in the income statement. When the underlying transaction occurs
the gains and losses are recognised in earnings.

Investments
Investments other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are considered to be available for sale financial
assets and are reflected at fair value. Increases and decreases in fair values of available for sale investments are reflected in the
revaluation reserve. On disposal of an investment, the balance in the revaluation reserve is recognised in the income statement.

Where regulated markets exist, fair values are determined with reference to the stock exchange quoted selling prices at the close
of business on the balance sheet date. Where a reliable fair value cannot be determined, investments are carried at cost.

Receivables
Receivables are subsequently valued at amortised cost.

Set-off
If a legally enforceable right exists to set-off recognised amounts of financial assets and liabilities and the Group intends to settle
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, all related financial effects are netted.

FIXED ASSETS
Impairment of assets
The carrying value of assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Where the carrying value exceeds the estimated
recoverable amount such assets are written down to their recoverable amount. If the circumstances leading to the impairment no
longer exist, the appropriate portion of the impairment loss previously recognised is written back.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are reflected at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the anticipated useful lives of the assets to a
maximum of 20 years.

Research and development
Expenditure on research projects (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.
When the development phase of a project demonstrates that it is probable that future economic benefits will be generated, the
related expenditure is recognised as an asset if:

• The technical feasibility of completing the asset demonstrates that it will be available for use or sale;
• There is an intention to complete the asset, and use or sell it;
• There is an ability to use or sell the asset;
• There are adequate technical, financial and other resources available to complete the development, and to use or sell the

asset; and
• The expenditure attributable to the asset can be measured reliably.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets, other than land and buildings, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Land and buildings
Land and buildings, other than mine properties, are valued at market value. Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives to an estimated residual value, if such value is significant. The annual depreciation rates used vary
between two and five per cent.
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Land and buildings are valued by external valuers at periodic intervals of not more than five years. Surpluses on revaluation are

recognised in equity in a revaluation reserve. Any subsequent impairment is adjusted against the revaluation surplus to the extent

of the available surplus and thereafter charged against operating profit. New acquisitions and additions to existing land and buildings

are reflected at cost until the next periodic revaluation.

Mine development and decommissioning

Costs to develop new ore bodies, to define further mineralisation in existing ore bodies and to expand the capacity of a mine, or its

current production, as well as the decommissioning thereof, are capitalised. Development costs to maintain production are

expensed as incurred.

Mine development and decommissioning assets are amortised using the units-of-production method based on estimated proved

and probable ore reserves. Proved and probable ore reserves reflect estimated quantities of economically recoverable reserves

which can be recovered in future from known mineral deposits. These reserves are reassessed annually. The maximum period of

amortisation using this method is 25 years. Where the reserves are not determinable due to their scattered nature, the straight-line

method of depreciation is applied based on the estimated life of the mine to a maximum of 25 years.

Mineral rights

Mineral rights that are being depleted are amortised over their estimated useful lives using the units-of-production method based

on proved and probable ore reserves. Where the reserves are not determinable, due to their scattered nature, the straight-line

method is applied. The maximum rate of depletion of any mineral right is 25 years. Mineral rights that are not being depleted are

not amortised. Mineral rights that have no commercial value are written off in full.

The excess purchase price over the fair value paid for mineral rights is recognised as being an amount paid for the acquisition of

ore reserves. This amount is capitalised and amortised over the period during which future economic benefits are expected to be

obtained from these mineral rights, to a maximum of 25 years.

Plant and machinery

Mining plant and machinery is amortised using the lesser of its estimated useful life or the units-of-production method based on

estimated proved and probable ore reserves. Where ore reserves are not determinable, because of their scattered nature, the

straight-line method of depreciation is applied. Non-mining plant and machinery is depreciated over its useful life. The maximum

life of any single item is 25 years.

Other

Mine properties (including houses, schools and administration blocks), motor vehicles and furniture and equipment are depreciated

on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, to estimated residual values. The residual value is the amount expected

to be obtained for the asset at the end of its useful life, after deducting expected costs of disposal.

The annual depreciation rates generally used in the Group are:

• Furniture and equipment 10 to 33 per cent

• Mine properties 4 to 7 per cent

• Motor vehicles 20 per cent

• Mine development plant and

machinery, and mineral rights 4 to 25 per cent
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS

Foreign entities

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries that are classified as foreign entities are translated into South African rand using the

exchange rates applicable at the reporting date, as follows:

• Assets and liabilities at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date;

• Income and expenditure at the weighted average rate of exchange for the year;

• Cash flow items at the weighted average rate of exchange for the year, except where the date of cash flow for significant transactions

can be identified, in which case the cash flows are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the cash flow;

• Fair value adjustments of the foreign entity are translated at the closing rate;

• Goodwill is considered to relate to the reporting entity and is translated at the rate at the date of acquisition, and

• Differences arising on translation are classified as equity until the investment is disposed of.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to South African rand at the rate of exchange ruling at the date that the transaction

is recorded.

Foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities (including those linked to a forward exchange contract) are stated in South

African rand using the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date, with the resulting exchange differences being recognised in

the income statement. Exchange differences on foreign loans that are naturally hedged by an investment in a foreign entity are taken

directly to equity to the extent that the loan is not greater than the investment.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value with due allowances being made for obsolete and

slow-moving items. Cost is determined using the following basis:

• Consumables and maintenance spares are valued at average cost;

• Finished products are valued at weighted average cost including an appropriate portion of direct overhead costs;

• Work-in-process is valued at weighted average cost;

• Raw materials are valued at weighted average cost, and

• By-products are valued at the estimated variable cost associated with their production.

LEASED ASSETS

Leases of fixed and tangible assets where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as

finance leases. Assets subject to finance lease agreements are capitalised at their cash cost equivalent and the corresponding

liability to the lessor is raised. Lease payments are allocated using the effective interest rate method to determine the lease finance

cost which is charged against operating profit and the capital repayment which reduces the liability to the lessor. These assets are

depreciated on the same basis as the fixed assets owned by the Group.

Leases, under which the lessor effectively retains the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as operating leases, with lease

payments charged against operating profit in equal instalments over the period of the lease.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Costs related to defined contribution retirement plans are expensed as incurred.

The Group has certain unfunded liabilities in respect of post-retirement medical health care benefits. The entitlement to these

benefits is dependent upon the employee remaining in service until retirement age. The actuarially determined costs of providing

these benefits are charged to income immediately.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Share options are accounted for at the strike price when the option is exercised and the shares are issued.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the following conditions have been met:

• A present legal or constructive obligation, to transfer economic benefits as a result of past events exists; and

• A reasonable estimate of the obligation can be made.

A present obligation is considered to exist when there is no realistic alternative but to make the transfer of economic benefits. The

amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.

Only expenditure related to the purpose for which the provision is raised is charged against the provision.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred and when the economic benefits associated

with a transaction flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Dividends

Dividends are accounted for on the last day of registration for listed investments and when declared in respect of unlisted

investments.

Mining products

Revenue from the sale of mining and related products is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the

goods have passed to the buyer.

Interest

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes account of the effective yield on the asset and an appropriate accrual

is made at each accounting reference date.

Toll treatment

Revenue from toll treatment contracts is recognised following the treatment of mining concentrates belonging to third parties. The

revenue is based on the final metal recoveries from concentrates at the agreed contract rates.

DEFINITIONS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and call deposits as well as short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily

convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Overdrafts are excluded from

cash and cash equivalents.

Basic earnings per share

Earnings divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue.

Headline earnings per share

Headline earnings comprise earnings for the year, adjusted for profits, losses and capital items of such a nature and size that

separate disclosure is required in accordance with the requirements of Circular 7 of 2002. Adjustments against earnings take

account of attributable taxation and minority interests. The adjusted earnings figure is divided by the weighted average number of

shares in issue to arrive at headline earnings per share.
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Fully diluted earnings per share

Fully diluted earnings comprise earnings as used in calculating basic earnings per share. The earnings figure is divided by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any financial instruments or other contracts that may entitle the holder

thereof to ordinary shares, to arrive at fully diluted earnings per share. Fully diluted headline earnings per share is calculated on the

same basis as fully diluted earnings per share.

Cash generated from operations per share

Cash generated from operations divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year.
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note Rm Rm Rm Rm

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible assets 2 4 786 5 686 132 120
Intangible assets 2 6 7 – –
Loans and long-term receivables – – – 252
Deferred tax assets 10 12 38 – –
Environmental rehabilitation trust funds 3 45 64 9 8
Investments 4 215 176 1 890 2 142

5 064 5 971 2 031 2 522

Current assets
Inventories 6 896 976 19 16
Trade and other receivables 936 1 060 169 140
Deposits and cash 265 779 217 545

2 097 2 815 405 701

Total assets 7 161 8 786 2 436 3 223

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Ordinary share capital 7 6 6 6 6
Share premium 7 79 62 79 62
Reserves 218 110 219 (91)
Retained earnings 2 208 2 401 1 407 2 092

Shareholders’ interest in capital and reserves 2 511 2 579 1 711 2 069
Minority interest 8 2 451 2 012 – –

Total shareholders' interest 4 962 4 591 1 711 2 069

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 9 – 1 181 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 10 519 493 64 106
Long-term provisions 11 153 215 75 72
Non-hedge derivatives 12 103 – – –

775 1 889 139 178

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 521 637 104 65
Provisions 14 39 62 21 27
Taxation 42 45 6 3
Derivative instruments – 47 – –
Overdrafts and short-term borrowings 15 822 1 515 455 881

1 424 2 306 586 976

Total equity and liabilities 7 161 8 786 2 436 3 223
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note Rm Rm Rm Rm

Revenue 16 4 896 4 047 377 326
Cost of sales (3 882) (2 985) (197) (167)

Gross profit 1 014 1 062 180 159
Other operating income 424 215 421 400
Other operating expenses (814) (478) (513) (447)
Unrealised non-hedge derivatives (103) – – –

Profit from operations 17 521 799 88 112
Income from investments 18 83 55 130 124
Finance costs (180) (160) (19) (56)

Profit before taxation and exceptional items 424 694 199 180
Exceptional items 19 (388) (1 084) (906) (911)

– Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (649) – – –
– Other exceptional items 261 (1 084) (906) (911)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 36 (390) (707) (731)
Taxation 21 (147) (313) 22 (59)

Loss after taxation (111) (703) (685) (790)
Minority interest (80) (163) – –

Loss (191) (866) (685) (790)

Additional information
Headline earnings before unrealised non-hedge 
derivatives 22 241 204
Headline earnings per share before unrealised 

non-hedge derivatives (cents) 215 184

Headline earnings 22 197 204
Headline earnings per share (cents) 23 176 184
Basic attributable loss per share (cents) 23 (170) (780)
Fully diluted attributable loss per share (cents) 23 (169) (771)
Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 23 174 182
Number of shares in issue at end of year (thousands) 112 602 111 444
Weighted average number of shares in issue (thousands) 112 046 110 977
Weighted average number of shares used in calculating 
fully diluted earnings per share (thousands) 23 112 967 112 367
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Share Foreign
capital and currency Revaluation Retained

premium translation surplus Other earnings Total
Note Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Group
Balance at 30 June 2001 62 6 638 35 3 267 4 008
Loss – – – – (866) (866)
Revaluation of listed investments – – 65 – – 65
Disposal of listed investments – – (562) – – (562)
Translation of foreign subsidiary – (48) – – – (48)
Unrealised loss on currency 

derivative contract – – – (26) – (26)
Share options exercised 7 6 – – – – 6
Other – – – 2 – 2

Balance at 30 June 2002 68 (42) 141 11 2 401 2 579
Loss – – – – (191) (191)
Revaluation of listed investments – – 39 – – 39
Translation of foreign subsidiary – 24 – – – 24
Realisation of reserve on disposal 

of Chambishi Metals plc – 18 – – – 18
Reversal of derivative instruments – – – 26 – 26
Share options exercised 7 17 – – – – 17
Transfer to insurance contingency reserve – – – 2 (2) –
Other – – 1 (2) – (1)

Balance at 30 June 2003 85 – 181 37 2 208 2 511

Company
Balance at 30 June 2001 62 (99) 641 35 2 882 3 521
Foreign currency translation reserve – (171) – – – (171)
Loss – – – – (790) (790)
Revaluation of listed investments – – 65 – – 65
Disposal of listed investments – – (562) – – (562)
Share options exercised 7 6 – – – – 6

Balance at 30 June 2002 68 (270) 144 35 2 092 2 069
Foreign currency translation reserve – 270 – – – 270
Loss – – – – (685) (685)
Revaluation of listed investments – – 40 – – 40
Share options exercised 7 17 – – – – 17

Balance at 30 June 2003 85 – 184 35 1 407 1 711
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note Rm Rm Rm Rm

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from customers 5 009 3 823 543 462
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (4 160) (3 204) (393) (415)

������ ������ ������ ������

Cash generated from operations 24 849 619 150 47
Interest received 80 55 61 94
Finance costs (180) (160) (19) (56)
Dividends received 3 2 23 31
Dividends paid 25 (21) (23) – –
Taxation paid 26 (101) (197) (18) (62)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 630 296 197 54

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to fixed assets to maintain operations (420) (122) (30) (12)
Additions to fixed assets to expand operations (132) (1 101) (1) (11)
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 8 6 – –
Proceeds on disposal of investments – 1 007 – 1 007
Increase in investment loans and receivables – – (853) (833)
Net proceeds from sale of ETC mine 27 252 – – –
Net cash effect on sale of Chambishi 27 (67) – – –
Proceeds on dilution of interest in 

investment in subsidiaries 564 139 564 139
Other investments acquired – – (5) (55)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 205 (71) (325) 235

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase in shareholder funding 17 6 17 6
Funding received from minority shareholders 11 264 – –
Long-term borrowings raised – 314 – –
Long-term borrowings repaid (901) (153) – –
Decrease in short-term borrowings (476) (316) (217) (90)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (1 349) 115 (200) (84)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (514) 340 (328) 205

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 779 439 545 340

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 265 779 217 545

Cash generated from operations per share (cents) 758 558 134 42
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The annual financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain fair value adjustments on financial
instruments and revaluation of land and buildings.

2. TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Mine Decom- Total

development missioning Plant and Land and Mineral tangible Intangible
assets assets machinery buildings rights Other assets assets

Group – Rm
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2001 2 911 35 2 943 145 327 334 6 695 (21)
Additions 480 – 594 81 1 64 1 220 3
Reclassifications (576) – 503 – – 76 3 (3)
Disposals (2) – (2) – – (6) (10) –
Realignment of currencies – 6 481 5 – 7 499 –

Balance at 30 June 2002 2 813 41 4 519 231 328 475 8 407 (21)
Additions 251 – 171 12 – 118 552 –
Reclassifications 37 – (41) – (1) 5 – –
Disposals (1) – (2) – – (3) (6) –
Disposal of Chambishi – (22) (1 931) (18) – (32) (2 003) –
Disposal of ETC mine (300) – (104) – – (12) (416) –
Realignment of currencies – (8) (712) (7) – (8) (735) –

Balance at 30 June 2003 2 800 11 1 900 218 327 543 5 799 (21)

Accumulated amortisation 
and depreciation

Balance at 30 June 2001 167 9 335 26 4 167 708 (30)
Charge for the year 64 2 126 5 3 38 238 2
Disposals – – (2) – – (2) (4) –
Impairment of assets – – 1 966 6 – 1 1 973 –
Realignment of currencies – – (194) – – – (194) –

Balance at 30 June 2002 231 11 2 231 37 7 204 2 721 (28)
Reclassification (2) – 3 – – (1) – –
Charge for the year 151 2 165 7 2 59 386 1
Disposals – – – – – (1) (1) –
Disposal of Chambishi – (6) (1 407) (5) – (13) (1 431) –
Disposal of ETC mine (100) – (36) – – (6) (142) –
Realignment of currencies – (2) (504) (10) – (4) (520) –

Balance at 30 June 2003 280 5 452 29 9 238 1 013 (27)

Carrying value at 30 June 
2002 2 582 30 2 288 194 321 271 5 686 7

Carrying value at 30 June 
2003 2 520 6 1 448 189 318 305 4 786 6
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

2. TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs amounting to R6 million were capitalised in respect of the year to 30 June 2003 (2002: R85 million).

Capital work-in-progress
Included in the above is R Nil (2002: R629 million) of assets relating to projects in progress from which no revenue is currently
derived.

Leased assets
Included in plant and machinery are leased assets with a book value of RNil (2002: R3 million). 

Other assets
Included in other assets are vehicles and equipment held under finance lease RNil (2002: R1 million), mine properties
R91 million (2002: R79 million), furniture, equipment and vehicles R213 million (2002: R191 million).

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of patents, trademarks and fully amortised negative goodwill.

Mine Decom-
development missioning Plant and Land and

assets assets machinery buildings Other Total

Company – Rm
Cost
Balance at 30 June 2001 100 1 48 17 32 198
Additions 15 – 4 – 4 23
Disposals – – – – (2) (2)

Balance at 30 June 2002 115 1 52 17 34 219
Additions 22 – 2 – 7 31
Disposals – – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2003 137 1 54 17 41 250

Accumulated amortisation 
and depreciation
Balance at 30 June 2001 41 – 18 – 26 85
Charge for the year 6 – 3 – 6 15
Disposals – – – – (1) (1)

Balance at 30 June 2002 47 – 21 – 31 99
Charge for the year 9 – 5 1 4 19

Balance at 30 June 2003 56 – 26 1 35 118

Carrying value at 
30 June 2002 68 1 31 17 3 120

Carrying value at 
30 June 2003 81 1 28 16 6 132

A register containing details of mineral and mining rights and land and buildings is available for inspection during business
hours at the registered address of the Company by members or their duly authorised agents.
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

3. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION TRUST FUNDS
Total environmental rehabilitation obligation (note 11) 87 130 9 9
Less: Amounts in trust funds 45 64 9 8

Net liability 42 66 – 1

The funds in the trusts are as follows:
Balance at beginning of year 64 59 8 7
Sale of ETC mine (19) – – –
Contributions 5 4 1 –
Less: Work completed (12) (6) – –
Interest earned 7 7 – –
Other movements – – – 1

45 64 9 8

4. INVESTMENTS
Listed – subsidiary companies
Book value 1 175 1 462

Listed – other investments
Original cost 34 31 34 31
Revaluation surplus 178 138 178 138

Closing carrying amount 212 169 212 169

Total – listed investments 212 169 1 387 1 631

Market value of listed investments 212 169 4 423 2 310

Unlisted – subsidiary companies
Book value 207 203
Loans* (refer page 84) 296 303

503 506
Unlisted – other 3 7 – 5

Total unlisted 3 7 503 511

Total carrying amount of investments 215 176 1 890 2 142

Directors' valuation of unlisted investments
– subsidiaries and other 3 36 503 670

A report on investments appears on pages 84 to 86.

*These loans are interest free with no fixed terms of repayment.
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5. JOINT VENTURES
The proportionate share of the following joint venture has been incorporated into the Company results:
– a 75 per cent share in the Nkomati mine.

The proportionate shares of the following joint ventures have been incorporated into the Group results:
– a 75 per cent share in the Nkomati mine, and
– a 50 per cent share in Cato Ridge Alloys (Proprietary) Limited.

The aggregate amounts of joint ventures proportionately consolidated in the financial statements are:
Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

Income statements
Revenue 525 424 377 326

Profit for the year after taxation 123 122 109 116

Balance sheets
Non-current assets 145 155 116 104
Current assets 185 239 111 146
Non-current liabilities (non-interest bearing) 28 33 28 33
Current liabilities 86 173 26 36

Cash flow statements
Net cash inflow from operating activities 230 115 209 154
Net cash outflow from investing activities (31) (23) (30) (22)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (21) (57) – –

Commitments and contingent liabilities
Commitments 3 12 2 9
Contingent liabilities 7 – 7 –

6. INVENTORIES
Consumable stores 83 150 1 1
Raw material 426 372 – –
Work-in-progress 43 80 18 15
Finished goods 344 374 – –

896 976 19 16

7. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Share capital
Authorised
300 000 000 (2002: 196 668 737) ordinary shares of 5 cents each 15 10 15 10
Nil (2002: 646 380) compulsorily convertible preference shares 

of 678 cents each – 4 – 4

15 14 15 14

Issued
112 601 980 (2002: 111 443 652) ordinary shares of 5 cents each 6 6 6 6

Share premium 79 62 79 62

– Balance at beginning of the year 62 56 62 56
– Premium on shares issued 17 6 17 6

Total issued share capital and premium 85 68 85 68
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

8. MINORITY INTEREST
Balance at beginning of year 2 012 1 483
Transfer from income statement 80 163
Dividends paid to minorities (21) (23)
New subsidiary acquired – 45
Change in minority control of subsidiary (Avgold) 328 114
Minority shareholders’ loan:

Two Rivers Platinum (Proprietary) Limited* 11 218
Realisation of unrealised loss on currency derivative contract 21 (21)
Realignment of currencies 20 33

Balance at year end 2 451 2 012

*The minority shareholder’s contribution to this project has 
been classified as a minority shareholder’s interest 
including that portion presently classified as shareholders’ 
loans. A final decision on the composition of these contributions 
between equity and loans has still to be made and will only be 
finalised when the project feasibility is finalised and approved.

9. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS*
SA rand long-term borrowings
Secured loans
Secured by bonds, pledges and charges over certain immovable 
property, certain movable corporeal assets, rights, hedging 
receivables and certain bank accounts.
Interest was calculated at 2,25 per cent above JIBAR.
The loan was to be repaid in twelve equal quarterly instalments 
commencing on 31 March 2003. – 300 – –
Unsecured loans
Finance lease – 1 – –

Total borrowings – 301 – –
Less: Repayable within one year included in 

short-term borrowings – 50 – –

Total SA rand long-term borrowings – 251 – –

US dollar long-term borrowings
Secured loans
– Loans of US$ Nil (2002: US$64 million) at a fixed interest rate 

of 6,75 per cent and repayable in semi-annual instalments over 
five years, commencing six months after final draw down, March 
2002. The loan was secured with a pledge of shares and cash – 656 – –

– Loans of US$ Nil (2002: US$16 million) at an interest rate of 
2 per cent above LIBOR. This loan was repayable in ten bi-annual 
instalments that commenced during September 2001 with the 
final instalment being due in September 2003 – 164 – –

– Loan of US$ Nil (2002: US$35 million) secured by bonds, pledges 
and charges over certain immovable property, certain movable 
corporeal assets, rights, hedging receivables and certain bank 
accounts. Interest was calculated at 2,25 per cent above LIBOR.
The loan was repayable in twelve equal quarterly instalments 
commencing on 31 March 2003 – 357 – –

Balance carried forward – 1 177 – –
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

9. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (continued)
Balance brought forward – 1 177 – –

Unsecured loans
– Unsecured loan of US$ Nil (2002: US$0,2 million). – 2 – –
This loan accrued interest at 6,50 per cent

Total – 1 179 – –
Less: Repayable within one year included in short-term 

borrowings – 249 – –

Total US dollar long-term borrowings – 930 – –

Total borrowings at end of the year – 1 480 – –
Less: Repayable within one year included in short-term 

borrowings – 299 – –

Total borrowings at end of the year – 1 181 – –

Made up as follows:
– Assmang Limited – 1 – –
– Avgold Limited – 548 – –
– Chambishi – 632 – –

– 1 181 – –

*These loans have been repaid at year-end

10. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax assets
Valuation of inventories 3 – – –
Provisions 4 – – –
Assessed loss 5 38 – –

Deferred tax assets 12 38 – –

Deferred tax liabilities
Tangible assets 438 389 – 31
Valuation of inventories – (3) – –
Provisions (10) (13) (3) (2)
State share of profit at 10,125 per cent 47 37 – –
Liabilities for health care benefits (21) (20) (20) (19)
Foreign exchange profit deferred – 48 – 48
Other 65 55 58 48

Net deferred tax liabilities 519 493 64 106
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

10. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Reconciliation of opening and closing balance
Opening deferred tax liability 493 360 106 64
Opening deferred tax asset (38) (47) – –

Net deferred tax liability – opening balance 455 313 106 64
Temporary differences from: 52 142 (42) 42

– Tangible assets 49 116 (2) –
– Assessed losses 9 (4) – –
– Valuation of inventories – (2) – –
– Provisions (1) (10) (1) –
– Health care benefits (1) – (1) –
– State share of profit 10 9 – –
– Write-off of deferred tax asset 24 – – –
– Foreign exchange profit (48) 39 (48) 39
– Other 10 (6) 10 3

– Closing deferred tax liability 519 493 64 106
– Closing deferred tax asset (12) (38) – –

Net deferred tax liability – closing balance 507 455 64 106

Deferred tax balances are shown net of deferred tax assets 
and deferred tax liabilities where a legal right to offset at 
settlement exists.

11. LONG-TERM PROVISIONS
Environmental rehabilitation obligation

Provision for decommissioning
Balance at beginning of year 72 68 2 1
Sale of ETC mine (8) – – –
Payments made (7) (4) – –
Provision for the year 3 6 – –
Realignment of currencies (8) 6 – –
Other movements – (4) – 1

Balance at end of year 52 72 2 2

Provision for restoration
Balance at beginning of year 58 47 7 7
Sale of ETC mine (24) – – –
Payments made (5) (2) – –
Provision for the year 6 7 – –
Additional obligation recognised – 6 – –

Balance at end of year 35 58 7 7

Total environmental rehabilitation obligation 87 130 9 9

Post-retirement health care benefits
Balance at beginning of year 85 81 63 62
Sale of ETC mine (2) – – –
Sale of Chambishi (22) – – –
Provision for the year 5 4 3 1

Balance at end of the year 66 85 66 63

Total long-term provisions at end of the year 153 215 75 72
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

12. NON-HEDGE DERIVATIVES

Forward exchange contracts

– Cost – – – –

– Fair value adjustment at year-end (unrealised) 103 – – –

Forward exchange contracts entered into to convert rand 

gold hedges are fair valued based upon the year-end  

rand/US dollar exchange rate of US$1 = R7,51. Refer to 

note 30.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 280 540 25 47

Other payables 241 97 79 18

Total trade and other payables 521 637 104 65

14. SHORT-TERM PROVISIONS

Balance at beginning of year 62 116 27 82

Sale of ETC mine (10) – – –

Sale of Chambishi (5) – – –

Provision for the year 29 38 12 23

Payments made during the year (35) (93) (18) (78)

Realignment of currencies (2) 1 – –

Balance at end of the year 39 62 21 27

Made up as follows:

– Debt suretyship – 7 – 7

– Leave-pay and bonus provisions 39 55 21 20

Total short-term provisions 39 62 21 27

15. OVERDRAFTS AND SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Overdrafts – 31 – –

Short-term borrowings 822 1 185 455 881

– Foreign 163 595 163 595

– Local 659 590 292 286

Current portion of long-term borrowings – 299 – –

822 1 515 455 881

Overdrafts and short-term borrowings are made up as follows:

– Anglovaal Mining Limited 163 595 163 595

– Assmang Limited 524 577 – –

– Avgold Limited 135 126 – –

– Chambishi – 217 – –

– Loans from subsidiaries – – 292 286

822 1 515 455 881
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

16. REVENUE
Revenue comprises:
– Mining and related products 4 715 3 771 377 326
– By-products 32 34 – –
– Toll treatment and other services 149 242 – –

Mining and related revenue 4 896 4 047 377 326

Made up as follows:
– Local revenue 1 484 622 167 141
– Export revenue 3 412 3 425 210 185

4 896 4 047 377 326

Revenue between companies within the Group, including 
revenue at arm’s length, is eliminated on consolidation.

17. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
Profit from operations includes:
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (65) 60 (13) 41
Remuneration for management advisory services – 1 83 77
Remuneration for technical advisory services 7 7 7 7
Surplus on disposal of tangible assets – 1 – –
Surplus on disposal of investments 261 540 277 533
Amortisation and depreciation – land and buildings 7 5 1 –

– mine development and 
decommissioning assets 153 66 9 6

– mineral rights 2 3 – –
– intangible assets 1 2 – –
– plant and machinery 165 126 5 3
– other 59 38 4 6

Auditors' remuneration – audit fees 4 4 1 1
– other services 1 1 1 –

Exploration expenditure 36 56 29 49
Inventory write down 11 – – –
Movement in provisions – long-term 14 16 3 2

– short-term 29 38 12 23
Share transfer, secretarial and financial services 2 5 2 2
Employee costs – salaries and wages 757 584 115 103

– defined contribution plans (pension) 45 28 6 7
– health care 42 21 7 3
– termination costs 35 – 35 –
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

18. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

Dividend income

– subsidiary companies – listed 21 24

– subsidiary companies – unlisted – 5

– other – listed 2 1 2 1

– other – unlisted 1 1 – 1

Interest received

– subsidiary companies – – 47 49

– other 80 53 60 44

83 55 130 124

19. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Surplus on disposal of Iscor Limited investment – 343 – 343

Surplus on disposal of Kumba Resources Limited options – 75 – 75

Surplus on disposal of Avgold Limited shares 241 48 268 50

Surplus on disposal of ETC mine 7 – – –

Surplus on disposal of other investments 9 – 9 –

Surplus on disposal of Assore Limited shares – 74 – 65

Surplus on disposal of mineral rights 4 – – –

Provision for guarantee – (5) – (5)

Loss on disposal of Chambishi (649) – (270) –

Impairment of assets and bad debt write-off – Chambishi – (1 619) (913) (1 134)

Loss on write down of Chambishi – – – (305)

Exceptional items per income statement (388) (1 084) (906) (911)

Taxation (4) (52) (1) (52)

Minority interest 4 66 – –

Net exceptional items (388) (1 070) (907) (963)

20. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Paid by the Company

Executive directors

– Salaries 5 5

– Bonuses 1 3

Non-executive directors 1 2

7 10

Value of options at 30 June (R million)

– Directors 32 8

Share options granted (units in thousands)

– Directors 184 149

Options end

– Directors September 2009
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

21. TAXATION

South African normal taxation

– current year 91 119 41 17

– prior year (2) 11 – –

– current year benefit of prior year unrecognised tax loss (37) – (37) –

State share of profits 25 37 – –

Deferred taxation

– temporary differences 25 142 (42) 42

– write-off of deferred tax asset 24 – – –

Secondary Tax on Companies 5 4 – –

Capital Gains Tax 16 – 16 –

147 313 (22) 59

Dealt with as follows:

Attributable to profit before exceptional items 143 261 (23) 7

Attributable to exceptional items (Note 19) 4 52 1 52

147 313 (22) 59

Reconciliation of rate of taxation: % % % %

Standard rate of company taxation 30 30 30 30

Adjusted for:

– Disallowed expenditure 544 (136) (50) (65)

– Exempt income (238) 35 13 20

– Effect of mining taxes 76 (8) – –

– Capital Gains Tax 42 – (2) –

– Secondary Tax on Companies 15 (2) – –

– Tax losses not raised as deferred tax assets (118) (4) 12 7

– Prior year tax underprovided (7) (3) – –

– Write-off of deferred tax assets 67 – – –

– Other (3) 8 – –

408 (80) 3 (8)

The estimated losses which are available for the reduction of 

future taxable income are 19 2 689 – –

The estimated unredeemed capital expenditure available for 

deduction against future mining income is 4 078 3 740 – –

The Group had unused credits in respect of secondary tax on companies of R74 million at 30 June 2003 (2002:

R49 million).

The latest tax assesment for the Company relates to the year ended June 2000 and is dated 19 July 2001. The assessment

for 1999 has not yet been received. All returns, to June 2002 have been submitted.
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

22. HEADLINE EARNINGS
Earnings per income statement (191) (866) (685) (790)
– Impairment of assets and bad debtors write-off – Chambishi – 1 619 913 1 439
– Surplus on disposal of investments and mineral rights (261) (540) (277) (533)
– Loss on sale of Chambishi 649 – 270 –
– Provisions for guarantee on disposal on investment – 5 – 5

197 218 221 121
– Taxation 4 52 1 52
– Minority interest (4) (66) – –

Headline earnings 197 204 222 173

Reconciliation of earnings to headline earnings before 
unrealised non-hedge derivatives

Loss per income statement (191) (866)
Adjust for: 44 –

– Unrealised non-hedge derivatives 103 –
– Minority effect (59) –

Loss before unrealised non-hedge derivatives (147) (866)
Adjust for:
– Net effect of exceptional items (refer above) 388 1 084
– Net effect of taxation and minority interest (refer above) – (14)

Headline earnings before unrealised non-hedge derivatives 241 204

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on a loss of R191 million (2002: R866 million – loss) and a weighted
average of 112 046 (2002: 110 977) thousand shares in issue during the year. 

The calculation of headline earnings per share is based on headline earnings of R197 million (2002: R204 million), and a
weighted average of 112 046 (2002: 110 977) thousand shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of headline earnings per share before unrealised non-hedge derivatives is based on headline earnings before
unrealised non-hedge derivatives of R241 million (2002: R204 million), and a weighted average of 112 046 (2002: 110
977) thousand shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of fully diluted earnings per share is based on a loss of R191 million (2002: R866 million), and a weighted
average of 112 967 (2002: 112 367) thousand shares, calculated as follows:

Group

2003 2002

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating basic 
earnings per share (thousands) 112 046 110 977
Potential ordinary shares due to share options granted 
(thousands) 921 1 390

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating fully 
diluted earnings per share (thousands) 112 967 112 367

The calculation of fully diluted headline earnings per share 
is based on earnings of R197 million (2002: R204 million) 
and a weighted average of 112 967 (2002: 112 367) 
thousand shares.
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Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

24. RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX TO CASH 

GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Net income before tax, finance cost and investment income 133 (284) (818) (799)

Adjusted for: 734 1 348 962 926

– Amortisation and depreciation of fixed assets 386 240 20 15

– Investment in Chambishi written off – – – 305

– Long and short-term provisions 44 21 16 24

– Impairment of fixed assets – Chambishi – 2 019 – –

– Surplus on disposal of fixed assets (4) – – –

– Surplus on disposal of investments (261) (540) (277) (532)

– Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/losses (179) (40) 10 (23)

– Foreign exchange profit Chambishi – debtors book – (400) – (400)

– Bad debt written off – Chambishi – – 913 1 534

– Payment to trust funds (12) (5) (1) (1)

– Unrealised loss on non-hedge derivatives 103 – – –

– Loss on sale of Chambishi 649 – 270 –

– Other non-cash flow items 8 53 11 4

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 867 1 064 144 127

(Increase) in inventories (168) (224) (4) (2)

(Increase) in receivables (48) (346) (30) (30)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 198 125 40 (48)

Cash generated from operations 849 619 150 47

25. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends to minorities 21 23 – –

Dividends paid 21 23 – –

26. TAXATION PAID

Balance at beginning of year (net) 45 77 3 48

Prior year tax under provided (2) 11 – –

Current taxation as per income statements 95 156 20 17

Other movements 5 (2) 1 –

Balance at end of year (42) (45) (6) (3)

Taxation paid 101 197 18 62
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ETC
Group

gold 2003 2002
mine Chambishi Rm Rm

27. PROCEEDS FROM DISPOSAL OF OPERATION AND SUBSIDIARY
During the year the Company disposed of its holdings in 
Chambishi and the ETC gold mine.

The following assets and liabilities were disposed of:
Fixed assets 274 572 846 –
Investments 20 – 20 –
Inventories 17 164 181 –
Trade and other receivables 4 126 130 –
Long-term borrowings – (20) (20) –
Trade and other payables and provisions (63) (211) (274) –
Overdrafts and short-term borrowings (7) – (7) –
Cash and cash equivalents – 17 17 –
Break cost on early settlement of loan – 50 50 –

Net assets 245 698 943 –
Profit/(loss) on disposal 7 (649) (642) –

Net proceeds on disposal 252 49 301 –

Gross proceeds 255 49 304 –
Less: Related expenses 3 – 3 –

Less: Proceeds on disposal outstanding – 49 49 –
Less: Cash and cash equivalents – 17 17 –
Less: Break cost on early settlement of loan – 50 50 –

Cash flow on disposal 252 (67) 185 –

28. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On 14 June 2003 Avmin publicly announced the decision of its board of directors that an agreement of sale was 
signed, subject to conditions precedent, to dispose of Chambishi Metals plc and Chambishi Marketing (Proprietary)
Limited (Chambishi).

The Group cobalt/copper segment results comprises Chambishi recoveries from its own dump resource and toll treatment.

These results are included up to 17 July 2003 when the disposal took place, as discontinuing operations in the consolidated
income statement. The results for the period 1 to 17 July 2003 were not material to the Group.

Group

2003 2002
Rm Rm

Attributable net cash flows
Operating (107) (54)
Financing 102 477
Investing (28) (361)
Nett cash (outflow)/inflow (33) 62

Discontinued operations included in Income Statement
Revenue 614 548
Cost of sales (574) (561)
Other operating income 32 2
Other operating expenses (111) (145)

Loss from operations (39) (156)
Income from investments –
Finance costs (47) (73)
Exceptional items (50) (2 019)
Taxation (24) –
Minority interest 20 73

Earnings (140) (2 175)
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29. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments
For management purposes, the Company is organised into four major operating divisions. These are precious metals,
copper/cobalt, nickel and ferrous metals.

The Group's products predominantly reflect the risks and rewards of trading and the operating divisions are therefore identified
as the primary reporting segments. 

Precious Cobalt/ Ferrous Corporate
metals copper Nickel metals and other Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Primary segmental information
Year to 30 June 2003
Revenue
External revenue 1 000 614 377 2 905 – 4 896
Cost of sales (863) (574) (198) (2 247) – (3 882)
Other operating income 67 32 19 13 293 424
Other operating expenses (130) (116) (48) (281) (342) (917)
Reallocated corporate expenditure – 5 (1) 49 (53) –

Segment result 74 (39) 149 439 (102) 521
Income from investments 14 – 3 1 65 83
Finance cost (58) (47) – (57) (18) (180)
Exceptional items 7 (50) – – (345) (388)
Taxation (10) (24) (44) (130) 61 (147)
Minority interest 1 20 – (101) – (80)

Contribution to earnings 28 (140) 108 152 (339) (191)

Contribution to headline earnings 26 (95) 108 152 6 197

Other information
Consolidated total operating assets 2 540 – 227 3 451 619 6 837
Intangibles and mineral rights 143 – – 176 5 324

Consolidated total assets 2 683 – 227 3 627 624 7 161

Consolidated total liabilities 385 – 54 1 338 422 2 199

Capital expenditure 154 29 30 338 1 552

Amortisation and depreciation 187 39 18 142 1 387
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Precious Cobalt/ Ferrous Corporate
metals copper Nickel metals and other Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

29. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)
Primary segmental information
Year to 30 June 2002
Revenue
External revenue 364 548 326 2 809 – 4 047
Cost of sales (335) (561) (167) (1 922) – (2 985)
Other operating income 31 2 31 45 106 215
Other operating expenses (11) (130) (27) (174) (136) (478)
Reallocated corporate expenditure – (15) 7 47 (39) –

Segment result 49 (156) 170 805 (69) 799
Income from investments 3 – 2 4 46 55
Finance cost (8) (73) – (72) (7) (160)
Exceptional items (2) (2 019) – – 937 (1 084)
Taxation (5) – (50) (247) (11) (313)
Minority interest (16) 73 – (220) – (163)

Contribution to earnings 21 (2 175) 122 270 896 (866)

Contribution to headline earnings 21 (221) 122 270 12 204

Other information
Consolidated total operating assets 2 997 1 282 250 3 158 771 8 458
Intangibles and mineral rights 141 – – 181 6 328

Consolidated total assets 3 138 1 282 250 3 339 777 8 786

Consolidated total liabilities 959 1 148 69 1 211 808 4 195

Capital expenditure 466 362 22 372 1 1 223

Amortisation and depreciation 57 49 12 117 5 240

Geographical segments
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas namely South Africa and Zambia. Chambishi in Zambia is the only
significant operation outside South Africa and is reported in the cobalt/copper business segment.

Assets by geographical area in which the assets are located, are as follows:

Secondary segmental information Group

2003 2002
Total assets Rm Rm

– South Africa 6 996 7 232
– Zambia – 1 139
– Europe 84 57
– USA 81 331
– Middle East – 27

7 161 8 786

Revenue by geographical area
– South Africa 1 780 622
– Zambia 145 244
– Europe 799 1 290
– Japan and China 1 067 1 150
– USA 571 511
– Other 534 230

4 896 4 047

Capital expenditure
– South Africa 523 861
– Zambia 29 362

552 1 223
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group is exposed to certain financial risks in the normal course of its operations. To manage these risks, a treasury risk
management committee monitors transactions involving financial instruments. Both recognised and unrecognised financial
instruments are disclosed below.

The Group does not acquire, hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes. All derivative type transactions are
entered into as hedges of underlying cash flows resulting from actual production.

The following risks occur and are managed through the policies adopted below:

Currency risk
The commodity market is predominantly priced in US dollars which exposes the Group’s cash flows to foreign exchange
currency risks.

Year-end
Foreign currency exchange rate

amount R/US$

Financial assets
Foreign currency denominated items included in receivables at 30 June 2003 US$72m 7,51
Foreign currency denominated items included in receivables at 30 June 2003 i9m 8,49
Foreign currency denominated items included in receivables at 30 June 2002 US$79m 10,25

Financial liabilities
United States dollar
Foreign currency denominated items included in payables at 30 June 2003 US$4 7,51
Foreign currency denominated items included in payables at 30 June 2002 US$3 10,25

For foreign currency denominated items included in long- and short-term borrowings refer to interest rate risk note further below.

Derivative instruments used to hedge the position of the Group against these risks include forward sale and purchase contracts
as well as forward exchange contracts.

Average
Principal Principal rate for maturity

at year-end at year-end period Maturity
US$m Rm R/US$ date

Forward exchange contracts for the 
conversion of rand gold hedges into dollar 
gold commodity hedges at 30 June 2003 198 1 762 8,90 31 July 2003 to

31 December 2005
Forward exchange contracts for precious 
metal revenue at 30 June 2002 24 209 8,74 31 July 2002 to

30 June 2003

Liquidity risk management
The Group’s executives meet regularly to review long- and mid-term plans as well as short-term forecasts of cash flow.
Funding requirements are met by arranging banking facilities and/or structuring finance as applicable. All funding and related
structures are approved by the board of directors.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from possible defaults on payments by business partners or bank counterparties. The Group minimises credit
risk by evaluating counterparties before concluding transactions in order to ensure the credit worthiness of such
counterparties. Cash is only deposited with institutions which have exceptional credit rankings with the amounts distributed
appropriately among these institutions to minimise credit risk through diversification.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Treasury risk management
The Group's treasury operation is a division of Anglovaal Mining Limited. The purpose of the division is to co-ordinate the
short-term cash requirements in the South African domestic money market. The treasury operation makes available to all
Group companies its bulk finance benefits at, or better than market related rates.

The treasury function is outsourced to Andisa Treasury Solutions (Andisa), a specialist in the management of third party
treasury operations.

A treasury committee, consisting of senior managers in the Company and representatives from Andisa, meets on a regular
basis to analyse currency and interest rate exposures as well as future funding requirements within the Group. The committee
reviews the treasury operation’s dealings to ensure compliance with Group policies and exposure limits as directed by the
board of directors and audit committee.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments only comprise ordinary shares. All of the compulsorily convertible preference shares that were in issue
were converted into ordinary shares at 30 June 2001 and the authorised share capital for this class of shares was cancelled
by special resolution passed on 8 November 2002.

Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk arises from the possible adverse effect of fluctuations in commodity prices on current and
future earnings. Other than gold hedges, see below, no other commodities are hedged.

Nkomati has a price sharing agreement with a refinery in terms of which a percentage of various metal prices above a 
pre-determined level are paid to the refiner.

Gold price and currency risk
Under the terms of the term loan facility to develop the Target mine, Avgold was required to hedge a significant portion of the
anticipated gold production to December 2005. During June 2003 the rand gold hedge book was restructured in terms of the
company’s hedging policy into dollar gold commodity hedges. As a result, Avgold is protected against a fall in the US dollar
gold price below the hedge levels and participates in upside potential when the rand weakens against the dollar. If the gold
price continues to trade at levels higher than the hedge price, Avgold will be prevented from participating in the higher gold
price on the portion of production that is hedged. These are accounted for as “normal sale/normal purchase” agreements.

Avgold purchased rand/US dollar forward exchange contracts (FEC’s) to convert the rand gold hedges into dollar gold hedges.
As at 30 June 2003 the hedge book had a negative mark-to-market value of R192 million. This was calculated at a gold price
of US$346,15/oz and an exchange rate of US$1:R7,51. The FEC’s had a negative mark-to-market value of R103 million (part
of the overall negative of R192 million).

The unmargined hedge book at 30 June 2003, after the restructuring, was as follows:

Year ending 30 June 2004 2005 2006

Dollar forward sales contracts
Quantity sold kg 9 162 9 137 4 403

oz 294 579 293 762 141 545

US$/oz 313 316 323

Interest rate risk
Fluctuations in interest rates give rise to interest rate risks through the impact these fluctuations have on the value of short-
term cash investments and financing activities.

Hedging of interest rates may be undertaken to ensure that fluctuations in interest rates do not have an unexpected impact on
the cash flows or value of assets and liabilities.

Cash is managed to ensure that surplus funds are invested in a manner to achieve maximum returns while minimising risks.
This is achieved through the activities of Andisa assisting the Group in managing cash flow needs.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Significant exposures to interest rate risk were as follows:

Foreign Book Effective
currency value at Repricing Maturity interest
amount year end date date rate

US$m Rm

Financial assets
Year ended 30 June 2003

Cash – call and current account 84 11,00%-13,35%
– South African Reserve Bank deposit 9 69 Dollar overnight

Various dates
– fixed deposits 112 in Nov 2003 11,85%-13,35%

Total financial assets 9 265

Year ended 30 June 2002
overnight 11,00%-11,35%

Cash – call and current accounts 210 call deposit
– fixed deposits 569 Various dates 11,35%-11,80%

in July 2002

Total financial assets 779

Financial liabilities
Year ended 30 June 2003

Short-term financial liabilities
– Rand Merchant Bank (Dublin) 7 49 31/07/2003 31/07/2003 LIBOR +1,25%
– Nedcor Trade Securities (Mauritius) 

Limited 15 114 31/07/2003 31/08/2004 LIBOR + 1,35%

Total foreign financial liabilities 22 163

Short-term financial liabilities
– Financial institutions 659 30/06/2003 30/06/2003 Linked to money

market

Total local liabilities 659

Total financial liabilities 22 822

Financial liabilities

Year ended 30 June 2002
Foreign financial liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities
– Rand Merchant Bank 64 656 Fixed to maturity 31/03/2007 6,75%
– Industrial Development Corporation 16 164 Fixed to maturity 30/09/2006 LIBOR + 2%
– Syndicated loan 35 357 Fixed to maturity 31/12/2005 LIBOR + 2,25%
– Other 1 2

116 1 179
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Foreign Book Effective
currency value at Repricing Maturity interest
amount year end date date rate

US$m Rm

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT (continued)
Short-term financial liabilities
– ABSA (Isle of Man) 9 92 28/02/2002 30/08/2002 LIBOR 0,8%
– Citibank Johannesburg 10 103 03/06/2002 04/12/2002 LIBOR 1,70%
– Rand Merchant Bank (Dublin) 6 66 28/06/2002 31/01/2002 LIBOR 1,25%
– Nedcor Trade Securities (Mauritius) Limited 23 231 28/06/2002 31/07/2002 LIBOR 1,05%
– Nedcor Trade Securities (Mauritius) Limited 10 103 28/06/2002 31/07/2003 LIBOR 1,25%

58 595

Total foreign financial liabilities 174 1 774

Local financial liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities
– Syndicated loan 300 17/08/2001 31/12/2005 JIBAR +2,25%
– Various 1

Short-term financial liabilities
– Financial institutions 621 Linked to money

market

Total local liabilities 922

Total financial liabilities 174 2 696

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Commitments
Commitments in respect of capital expenditure:
Approved by directors
– contracted for 129 229 1 7
– not contracted for 271 588 1 2

Total commitments 400 817 2 9

Contingent liabilities
The Company has a contingent liability for the amount of tax relating to the Anglovaal Limited loan stock redemption premium
that the South African Revenue Service disallowed in 1998. The potential 1998 liability for tax is R107 million at a tax rate of
35 per cent, plus interest. This matter is currently under appeal.

A back-to-back guarantee was issued by Avmin to Assore Limited (Assore) in respect of guarantees issued to bankers by Assore
to secure a short-term export finance agreement facility of R180 million (2002: R180 million). Short-term export finance loans
negotiated in terms of the above facility in the ordinary course of business at 30 June 2003 were Nil (2002: R13 million).

Avmin has provided an irrevocable and unconditional guarantee to Copperbelt Energy Corporation plc (CEC) and the
Development Bank of Southern Africa Limited (DBSA) for the due and punctual payment by Chambishi of the capital charge
component of the power supply assets installed and owned by CEC for which financing was obtained by CEC from DBSA. The
total outstanding capital charge obligation at June 2003 amounted to US$Nil million (2002: US$11,1 million) and will reduce
over 10 years ending June 2012 as capital charge payments are made by Chambishi. This guarantee is in the process of being
replaced by the next owners of Chambishi.



82 | Financials

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  ( c o n t i n u e d )

32. RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group has made provision for pension plans and provident funds substantially covering all employees. These are

composed of defined contribution pension plans, which are governed by the Pension Fund Act, 1956, and defined contribution

provident funds administered by employee organisations within the industries in which members are employed. 

The contributions paid by Group companies for retirement benefits are charged to the income statement as they are incurred.

The benefits provided by the defined contribution plans are determined by accumulated contributions and returns on investment.

Periodic reviews of the plans are carried out by independent actuaries at regular intervals.

Members contribute between 5,0 per cent and 7,5 per cent and employers between 6,2 per cent and 18,12 per cent of

pensionable salaries to the funds.

33. POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

The Group has obligations to fund a portion of certain pensioners' and retiring employees' medical aid contributions based

on the cost of benefits. The anticipated liabilities arising from these obligations have been actuarially determined using the

project unit credit method, and a corresponding liability has been raised, the detail of which is reflected in note 11 of these

financial statements.

The liability is assessed periodically by an independent actuarial survey. This survey uses the following principal

actuarial assumptions:

– a discount rate of 12 per cent, based on high quality corporate bonds;

– an increase in health care costs at a rate of 8,74 per cent.

The provisions raised in respect of post-retirement health care benefits amounted to R66 million (2002: R85 million) at the end

of the year. Of this amount, R5 million (2002: R4 million) was charged against income in the current year (refer to note 11).

The liabilities raised based on present values of the post-retirement benefit, have been recognised in full. The last actuarial

valuation was conducted in 2001 and the subsequent valuation will be conducted in 2004. The liability for post-retirement

health care benefits is not funded. At retirement, certain members are given the choice to have an actuarially determined

amount paid into their pension fund, to cover the expected cost of the post-retirement health cover. Alternatively, the Company

will continue to fund the portion of the retiring employee’s medical aid contributions.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions can exist between subsidiaries and the holding company, fellow subsidiaries, associated

companies, joint ventures and key management personnel. A report on investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and

joint ventures, that indicates the relationship and degree of control exercised by the Company, appears on pages 85 to 86.

Transactions between the holding company, its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures relate to fees, dividends,

rents and interest and are regarded as intra-Group transactions and eliminated on consolidation.

Fees relating to specific capital projects are not eliminated as the underlying costs are capitalised to capital work-in-progress.

These transactions are concluded at arm's length and under terms and conditions that are no less favourable than those

arranged with third parties. The volume of these transactions is insignificant in relation to the operating transactions of the

Company and are concluded to effect internal policies and practices of the Company. There were no material outstanding

balances at the end of the year, as transactions with the Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Transactions with directors relate to fees and share options and are disclosed in note 20 above.

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm Rm Rm

Assmang Limited
– Provison of services 5 7 57 57
– Dividends – – 21 24
Chambishi Metals plc
– Provision of services 1 14 25 26
– Interest – – 45 48
Nkomati Joint Venture
– Provision of services 1 1 6 6
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Company

2003 2002
Rm Rm

INVESTMENTS
Listed: market value R4 423 million (2002: R4 993 million) 1 175 1 462
Unlisted 207 203

1 382 1 665
Amounts owing by subsidiaries (refer note 4) 296 303
Amounts owing to subsidiaries (refer note 15) (292) (286)

1 386 1 682

INCOME FROM SUBSIDIARIES
Dividends 21 29
Interest 47 49
Fees – management advisory services 83 77
Fees – technical advisory services 7 7

158 162

MEMBERS' AGGREGATE INTEREST IN PROFITS 
AND LOSSES AFTER TAXATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
Profits 103 123
Losses 184 912

INDEBTEDNESS TO COMPANIES IN THE GROUP
The aggregate amount of indebtedness of subsidiaries to 
Anglovaal Mining Limited is:

– included in investments 296 303
– included in loans and long-term receivables – 252
– included in receivables 4 3

300 558

The aggregate amount of indebtedness of Anglovaal 
Mining Limited to its subsidiaries is:

– included in payables 1 1
– included in overdrafts and short-term borrowings 292 286

293 287
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Book value of the Company’s
interest

Issued Direct interest in Indebtedness
capital amount capital Shares by/(to)

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Name and nature of business Class Rm Rm % % Rm Rm Rm Rm

Anglovaal Air (Proprietary) Limited
– air charter operator Ord – – 100 100 89 89 (211) (211)
Assmang Limited1

– manganese, iron ore and chrome mining 
company and ferro-alloy producer Ord 2 2 50 50 261 261 – –

Atscot (Proprietary) Limited
– investment Ord 1 1 100 100 10 10 (23) (23)
Avgold Limited1

– gold producer Ord 7 7 42 56 914 1 201 – –
Avmin Limited
– mining investment Ord 454 454 100 100 678 678 (17) (17)
Bitcon’s Investments (Proprietary) Limited
– investments Ord – – 100 100 2 2 (2) (2)
Chambishi Marketing (Proprietary) Limited 4

– marketing of metals Ord – – – 100 – – – –
Chambishi Metals plc2

– cobalt and copper treatment Ord – 339 – 90 – – – 21
Jesdene Limited
– share dealer Ord – – 100 100 – – 6 6
Kingfisher Insurance Company Limited
– insurance Ord – – 100 100 5 5 17 –
Lavino (Proprietary) Limited
– investment Ord 1 1 100 100 3 3 (9) (9)
Letaba Copper & Zinc Corporation Limited
– prospecting Ord 1 1 94 94 – – – –
Mannequin Insurance PCC Limited Cell AVL18 5

– insurance Ord 4 – 100 – 4 – (4) –
Prieska Copper Mines Limited
– investment Ord 27 27 97 97 – – – –
Sheffield Minerals (Proprietary) Limited
– investments Ord – – 100 100 – – – –
South African Base Minerals Limited
– investment Ord – – 100 100 – – – –
Tasrose Investments (Proprietary) Limited Pref – – 100 100 24 24 – –
– mining investment Ord – – 100 100 – – (24) (24)
Two Rivers Platinum (Proprietary) Limited
– platinum investment Ord 100 100 55 55 55 55 281 267
Vallum Investments (Proprietary) Limited
– investment Ord – – 100 100 – – – –
Venetia Diamond Mines3

(Proprietary) Limited
– share dealings Ord – – 100 100 – – – –
Venture Building Trust (Proprietary) Limited
– property owner Ord – – 100 100 12 12 9 10

Ord Ordinary shares
Pref Preference shares

Unless otherwise stated, all companies are incorporated and carry on their principal operations in the Republic of South Africa. Interests are shown to the extent that
this information is considered material. A schedule with details of all other subsidiaries is available from the registered office or the London secretaries of the
Company.
1 Listed companies
2 Incorporated in Zambia, sold 17 July 2003
3 Deregistered 2 September 2002
4 Sold 17 July 2003
5 Incorporated in Guernsey
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Group Company Group effective
Number of shares held Number of shares held percentage holding

Name of company 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED 
COMPANIES, JOINT VENTURES 
AND PARTNERSHIPS

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Listed

Village Main Reef Gold Mining 
Company (1934) Limited
Ordinary shares of 12,5 cents each 2 292 500 2 292 500 2 292 500 2 292 500 38 38
JOINT VENTURES AND 
PARTNERSHIPS
Cato Ridge Alloys (Proprietary) 
Limited 19 400 19 400 – – 25 25
Nkomati Joint Venture – – – – 75 75

INVESTMENTS IN OTHER 
COMPANIES

Listed

Assore Limited 2 610 600 2 610 600 2 610 600 2 610 600 2 610 600 2 610 600
Sub-Sahara Resources Limited 1 6 265 664 6 265 664 6 265 664 6 265 664 6 265 664 6 265 664

Unlisted

Otterbea International 2

(Proprietary) Limited – 7 982 – 7 982
Business Partners Limited 323 177 323 177 323 177 323 177

Notes
Interests are shown to the extent that this information is considered material. A schedule with details of all other investments is available from the registered office or
the London secretaries of the Company.
1 Incorporated in Australia
2 Sold
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For the benefit of international investors, the balance sheet, income statement and statement of changes in equity and the cash flow
statement of the Group, presented in rands and set out on pages 58 to 86, have been translated into United States dollars and are
presented on pages 87 to 91. This information is supplementary and not required by International Financial Reporting Standards.

The balance sheets are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the close of business at 30 June each year and the income
statements and cash flows are translated at the average exchange rates for the years reported.

The dollar denominated balance sheet, income statement, statements of changes in equity and cash flow statement should be read
in conjunction with the accounting policies of the Group as set out on pages 51 to 57 and with the notes to the financial statements
on pages 62 to 83.

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E Group Group Group Group Group
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

The exchange rates were: R/US$ R/US$ R/US$ R/US$ R/US$

Balance sheet R7,51 R10,25 R8,08 R6,80 R6,03
Income statement and cash flow statement R9,04 R10,15 R7,67 R6,34 R6,06

US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Income statement
Revenue 542 399 369 463 411
Earnings/(loss) (20) (86) 37 627 86
Headline earnings 22 20 37 77 48
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (18) (77) 34 587 93
Headline earnings per share (cents) 19 18 34 72 51

Balance sheet
Total assets 954 857 1 128 1 388 823
Total interest bearing borrowings 109 263 306 159 121
Shareholders' equity 662 448 680 628 517

Cash flow
Cash generated from operations 94 59 69 100 76
Cash generated from operations per share (cents) 84 53 64 93 82
Cash and cash equivalents 35 76 54 612 72

Number of employees 3 284 5 303 5 263 5 326 14 861

JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa performance
Ordinary shares (US cents)
– high 564 520 527 456 641
– low 321 282 298 291 196
– year end 533 489 489 368 647
Volume of shares traded (thousands) 39 294 51 524 38 285 91 856 46 426
Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 112 602 111 444 110 105 107 610 106 200

Definition*
Financial statistics number
Tax rate before exceptional items (per cent) 1 320 (79) 29 7 19
Interest cover (times) 2 3,4 5,3 5,3 10,9 5,5
Dividend cover (times) 3 – – – 0,41 4,5
Return on operational assets (per cent) 4 6,4 16,4 8.2 7,0 13,3
Return on capital employed (per cent) 5 8,2 14,1 7,7 12,1 16,1
Return on equity (per cent) 6 6,5 7,9 7,0 17,0 14,5
Debt:equity ratio 7 0,16 0,59 0,45 0,25 0,23
Net debt:equity ratio 8 0,11 0,42 0,37 (0,72) 0,09
Net asset value per share (US cents) 9 298 226 451 422 312
Market capitalisation (US$ million) 10 600 402 538 396 687

*Refer to page 4 for definitions
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Group

2003 2002
Note US$m US$m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible assets 2 637 555
Intangible assets 2 1 1
Deferred tax assets 10 2 4
Environmental rehabilitation trust funds 3 6 6
Investments 4 29 17

675 583
Current assets
Inventories 6 119 95
Trade and other receivables 125 103
Deposits and cash 35 76

279 274

Total assets 954 857

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Ordinary share capital 7 1 1
Share premium 7 11 6
Reserves 30 10
Retained earnings 294 235

Shareholders’ interest in capital and reserves 336 252
Minority interest 8 326 196

Total shareholders' interest 662 448

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 9 – 115
Deferred tax liabilities 10 69 48
Long-term provisions 11 20 21
Non-hedge derivatives 12 14 –

103 184
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 69 62
Provisions 14 5 6
Taxation 6 4
Derivative instruments – 5
Overdrafts and short-term borrowings 15 109 148

189 225

Total equity and liabilities 954 857
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Group

2003 2002
Note US$m US$m

Revenue 16 542 399
Cost of sales (429) (294)

Gross profit 113 105
Other operating income 47 21
Other operating expenses (90) (47)
Unrealised non-hedge derivatives (11) –

Profit from operations 17 59 79
Income from investments 18 9 5
Finance costs (20) (16)

Profit before taxation and exceptional items 48 68
Exceptional items 19 (43) (107)

– Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (72) –
– Other exceptional items 29 (107)

Loss before taxation 5 (39)
Taxation 21 (16) (31)

Loss after taxation (11) (70)

Minority interest (9) (16)

Loss (20) (86)

Additional information
Headline earnings 22 22 20
Headline earnings before unrealised non-hedge derivatives 22 27 20
Headline earnings per share (cents) 23 19 18
Headline earnings per share before unrealised non-hedge derivatives (cents) 24 18
Fully diluted earnings/(attributable loss) per share (cents) 23 (18) (76)
Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 23 19 18
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Share Foreign
capital and currency Revaluation Retained

premium translation surplus Other profit Total
Group US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m

Balance at 30 June 2001 8 1 80 3 405 497
Realignment of currencies (1) – (18) – (85) (104)
Loss – – – – (85) (85)
Revaluation of listed investment – – 6 – – 6
Disposal of listed investments – – (54) – – (54)
Unrealised loss on currency derivative contract – – – (3) – (3)
Other – (5) – – – (5)

Balance at 30 June 2002 7 (4) 14 – 235 252
Realignment of currencies 3 2 6 2 79 92
Loss – – – – (20) (20)
Revaluation of listed investment – – 5 – – 5
Reversal of derivative instruments – – – 3 – 3
Share options exercised 2 – – – – 2
Realisation of reserve on disposal of 

Chambishi – 2 – – – 2

Balance at 30 June 2003 12 – 25 5 294 336
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Group

2003 2002
Note US$m US$m

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 554 377
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (460) (318)

������ ������

Cash generated from operations 24 94 59
Translation adjustment 16 (11)
Interest received 9 5
Interest paid (20) (16)
Dividends paid 25 (2) (2)
Taxation paid 26 (11) (19)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 86 16

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to fixed assets to maintain operations (46) (12)
Additions to fixed assets to expand operations (15) (108)
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 1 1
Proceeds on disposal of investments – 99
Net proceeds from sale of ETC mine 27 28 –
Net cash effect on sale of Chambishi 27 (7) –
Proceeds on dilution of interest in investment in subsidiaries 62 14

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 23 (6)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in shareholder funding 2 1
Funding received from minority shareholders 1 26
Long-term borrowings raised – 31
Long-term borrowings repaid (100) (15)
Decrease in short-term borrowings (53) (31)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (150) 12

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (41) 22
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 76 54

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 35 76

Cash generated from operations per share (cents) 84 53
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S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  A N A LY S I S

30 JUNE 2003

Number of Number of
shareholders % shares %

Holdings 1 – 1 000 2 560 68,85 797 801 0,71
1 001 – 5 000 720 19,37 1 640 766 1,46
5 001 – 10 000 121 3,25 902 213 0,80

10 001 – 50 000 158 4,25 3 690 456 3,28
50 001 – 100 000 54 1,45 4 021 228 3,57

100 001 – 1 000 000 89 2,39 25 700 079 22,82
1 000 000 and over 16 0,44 75 849 437 67,36

3 718 100,00 112 601 980 100,00

S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  D I A R Y

Financial year end 30 June
Annual general meeting 11 November 2003

Report and profit statements Published
Half-yearly interim report March 2004
Results and dividend announcement September 2004
Annual financial statements issued October 2004

Annual dividend 2003 (refer to page 44) Declared nil Paid nil
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A D M I N I S T R A T I O N

Company
Anglovaal Mining Limited
Registration number: 1933/004580/06
Share code:

JSE Securities Exchange South Africa – AIN
London Stock Exchange – AGM

ISIN ZAE000017141

Company secretary’s and registered office’s address
56 Main Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa

Postal address
PO Box 62379
Marshalltown, 2107
South Africa
Telephone (+27 11) 634-9111
Telefax (+27 11) 634-0383

Additional corporate information can be obtained from
Ebrahim Takolia in the investor relations department at the
postal address or telephone number shown above.

Alternatively, at the Company’s website:
http://www.avmin.co.za

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Bankers
Absa Bank Limited
FirstRand Bank Limited
Nedbank Limited
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Sponsors
Deutsche Securities SA (Pty) Limited

CHANGE OF ADDRESS
Members are requested to notify any change of address to:
The Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Limited
Investor Services Division
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown, 2107
South Africa

or

The London Secretaries
St James’s Corporate Services Limited
6 St James’s Place
London SW1A 1NP
United Kingdom
Telephone (020) 7499-3916
Telefax (020) 7491-1989

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES
Transfer secretaries
Computershare Limited
Investor Services Division
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa

Postal address
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown, 2107
South Africa
Telephone (+27 11) 370-5000
Telefax (+27 11) 370-5271/2

London secretaries
St James’s Corporate Services Limited
6 St James’s Place
London SW1A 1NP
United Kingdom
Telephone (020) 7499-3916
Telefax (020) 7491-1989

United Kingdom share registrars
Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent BR3 4TU
United Kingdom



94 | Notice of Annual General Meeting

N O T I C E  O F  A N N U A L  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G

(Registration number 1933/004580/06)
Share codes: South Africa AIN
London Stock Exchange: AGM

ISIN: ZAE000017141
(the “Company”)

Notice is hereby given that the seventieth annual general meeting of members of Anglovaal Mining Limited will be held at 56 Main
Street, Johannesburg on Tuesday, 11 November 2003 at 15:00, for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2003.

2. To elect the following directors in place of those retiring in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election, namely, Messrs KW Maxwell and JR McAlpine.

Refer Footnotes for directors’ curriculum vitae.

3. To elect the following directors who were appointed as such since the last annual general meeting and who, being eligible, offer
themselves for election, namely Messrs DN Campbell, PT Motsepe, PC Pienaar, JC Steenkamp and BZ Swanepoel.

Refer Footnotes for directors’ curriculum vitae.

4. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following ordinary resolution:

Ordinary resolution number 1
“Resolved that the rate at which directors shall be paid out of the funds of the Company as remuneration for their services fees
as such be and is hereby increased from R75 000 to R100 000 per annum for the chairman and from R43 000 to R60 000
per annum for each of the other directors, and directors’ meeting attendance fees be increased from R5 250 to R7 000 per
meeting for the chairman and from R3 000 to R4 200 per meeting for each of the other directors, payable quarterly in arrears,
with effect from 1 July 2003 until otherwise determined by the Company in general meeting.”

5. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting.

Voting and Proxies
Each shareholder of the Company who is registered as such and who, being an individual, is present in person or by proxy or
which, being a company, is represented, at the annual general meeting is entitled to one vote on a show of hands.

On a poll, each shareholder present in person or by proxy or represented shall have one vote for every share held by such
shareholder.

Footnotes

Directors retiring by rotation and are seeking re-election
Kennedy William Maxwell, BSc Eng (Mech), MA, PMD, 64. Consultant. Past chairman of the board of directors; now an
independent non-executive director. An Avmin director since December 1998. Chairman of the audit and remuneration
committees and member of the sustainable development committee.

James Roy McAlpine, BSc (Glasgow), CA (Scotland), 62. Director of companies. Appointed to the board as an independent
non-executive director in December 1998. A member of the remuneration committee.

Confirmations of appointments of directors appointed since the last annual general meeting.
Douglas Neil Campbell, CA(SA), 56. An executive director and the chief financial officer of the Company. Appointed to the board
on 12 May 2003. Member of the risk committee.

Patrice Tlhopane Motsepe, BA, LLB, 41. Chairman, Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited. Appointed to Avmin’s board on
5 May 2003 as a non-executive director. Member of the nominations committee.
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Petrus Cornelius Pienaar, BCom, CA (SA), 39. New business executive, Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited. Appointed as
a non-executive director of Avmin on 5 May 2003. A member of the audit, risk and sustainable development committees.

Jan Christiaan Steenkamp, National Mining Diploma, EDP, 49. Avmin’s chief executive officer. An executive director appointed
to the board on 12 May 2003. Member of the risk and sustainable development committees.

Zacharius Bernardus Swanepoel, BSc (Min Eng), BCom (Hons), 42. Chief executive officer, Harmony Gold Mining Company
Limited. Joined the board on 5 May 2003 as a non-executive director. Member of the remuneration committee.

Certificated shareholders/dematerialised shareholders with own name registrations
Shareholders who have not yet dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with own name registration
(“entitled shareholders”) may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote or abstain from voting in such
shareholders’ stead. The person so appointed need not be a member of the Company. A form of proxy is attached for the use
of those entitled shareholders who wish to be so represented. Such entitled shareholders should complete the attached form
of proxy in accordance with the instructions contained therein and return it to the registered office of the Company, namely
56 Main Street, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa, (PO Box 62379, Marshalltown, 2107) or the transfer secretaries,
Computershare Limited, Investor Services Division, 7th Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001, South Africa (PO Box
61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa) or United Kingdom share registrars, Capita Registrars, The Registry,
34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent, England BR3 4TU to be received by 15:00 on Friday, 7 November 2003.

Dematerialised shareholders
Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares (other than those with own name registrations) should provide their Central
Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into
with the relevant CSDP or broker. Should such shareholders wish to attend the annual general meeting to be held on 11 November
2003 or send a proxy to represent them at the annual general meeting, they should inform their CSDP or broker timeously and
request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend.

By order of the board

RH Phillips
Group company secretary

Johannesburg
3 October 2003
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(Registration number 1933/004580/06)
Share codes: South Africa AIN
London Stock Exchange: AGM

ISIN: ZAE000017141
(the “Company”)

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares (other than those with own name registrations) should provide their Central
Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into with
their relevant CSDP or broker. Should such shareholders wish to attend the annual general meeting of Anglovaal Mining Limited,
they should inform their CSDP or broker timeously and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation
to attend.

FOR COMPLETION BY SHAREHOLDERS WHO HAVE NOT YET DEMATERIALISED THEIR SHARES OR WHO HAVE
DEMATERIALISED THEIR SHARES WITH OWN NAME REGISTRATION

Shareholders who have not yet dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their shares with own name
registration (Entitled Shareholders) may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote or to abstain from voting in such
shareholder’s stead. The person so appointed need not be a member of the Company. This form of proxy is for the use of those
entitled members who wish to be so represented. Such Entitled Shareholders should complete this form of proxy in accordance
with the instructions contained herein and return it to the registered office or the transfer secretaries or the United Kingdom share
registrars of the Company, to be received by the time and date stipulated herein.

If you are unable to attend the seventieth annual general meeting of shareholders of Anglovaal Mining Limited convened for Tuesday,
11 November 2003 at 15:00, you should complete and return this form of proxy as soon as possible, but in any event to be received
by not later than 15:00 on Friday, 7 November 2003.

I/We (name in block letters)

of (address)

being the holder of shares in the issued share capital of the Company, do hereby appoint

or failing him/her,

or failing him/her, the chairman of the Company, or failing him/her the chairman of the meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us
and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 15:00 on Tuesday, 11 November 2003 and at
any adjournment thereof and in particular in respect of the following resolutions:

*Indicate with an X in the spaces below how votes are to be cast. Unless otherwise directed, the proxy will vote or abstain as he
thinks fit in respect of the member’s holding.

Resolutions For Against Abstain

1 To re-elect the following directors, who retire by rotation:
KW Maxwell

JR McAlpine

2 To confirm the appointments of the following directors made during the year:
DN Campbell

PT Motsepe

PC Pienaar

JC Steenkamp

ZB Swanepoel

3 Ordinary resolution number 1:
To increase directors’ fees

Unless this section is completed for a lesser number, the Company is authorised to insert in the
said section the total number of shares registered in my/our name(s) one business day before
the meeting.

Signed at on 2003

Signature

Assisted by me (where applicable)
Please see notes overleaf

Number of shares
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Please read the notes below:

1. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the Entitled Shareholder who grants this proxy from
attending the meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof should
he or she wish to do so.

2. Every member present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote shall, on a show of hands, have only one vote
and upon a poll every member shall have a vote for every ordinary share held.

3. You may insert the name of any person(s) whom you wish to appoint as your proxy in the blank space(s) provided for that
purpose. The person whose name appears first on the form of proxy and who is present at this meeting will be entitled to act
as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

4. When there are joint holders of shares, only that holder whose name appears in the register need sign this form of proxy.

5. If the form of proxy is signed under the authority of a power of attorney or on behalf of a company or any other juristic person,
then it must be accompanied by such power of attorney or a certified copy of the relevant enabling resolution or other authority
of such company or other juristic person, unless proof of such authority has been recorded by the Company.

6. If the entitled shareholder does not indicate in the appropriate place on the face hereof how he or she wishes to vote in respect
of a resolution, his or her proxy shall be entitled to vote as he or she deems fit in respect of that resolution.

7. A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank spaces need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration must
be signed, not initialled.

8. The chairman of the meeting may, in his absolute discretion, reject any form of proxy which is completed other than in
accordance with these instructions.

9. Forms of proxy, powers of attorney or any other authority appointing a proxy shall be deposited at the registered office of the
Company, 56 Main Street, Johannesburg 2001 South Africa (or posted to PO Box 62379, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa),
or at the transfer secretaries, Computershare Limited, Investor Services Division, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
South Africa (or posted to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa) or the United Kingdom share registrars, Capita
Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent, England BR3 4TU, so as to be received not later than 15:00
on Friday, 7 November 2003 (in respect of the meeting) or 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before
the time appointed for the holding of any adjourned meeting.

10. No form of proxy shall be valid after the expiration of six months from the date when it was signed except at an adjourned
meeting in cases where the meeting was originally held within six months from the aforesaid date.
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